
1 
 

 
BRUNSWICK TOWN COUNCIL 

Agenda 
March 16, 2015 

7:00 P.M. 
Council Chambers 

Town Hall 
85 Union Street 

 
Roll Call of Members 
 
Acknowledgement of Meeting Notice 
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Adjustments to Agenda 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 

a) Approval of the minutes of March 2, 2015 
b) Approval of Quitclaim Deed for mobile home on land depicted as Map 045 Lot 003 Sub 

000 Typ 131 
c) Approval of Quitclaim Deed for mobile home on land depicted as Map 045 Lot 003 Sub 

000 Typ 185 
d) Permission to expend, if received, a Highway Safety Grant for Impaired Driving High 

Visibility Enforcement Program 
e) Permission to apply for, and if received, expend a Highway Safety Grant for Seat Belt 

enforcement  
 
Public Comments 
 
Correspondence 
 
Committee Reports 
 
MANAGER’S REPORT 
(a) Financial Update 
(b) Review of budget meeting schedule  
(c) Reminder of the Public Hearing on NNEPRA Storm Water Management Law Permit 

Application 
(d) Reminder of local Legislators holding Community Forum on Governor’s proposed budget 
(e) Update on METRO bus service to Brunswick 
 
  



2 
 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 
25. The Town Council will hear public comments on a renewal special amusement 

application, and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager) 
 

Special Amusement 
Columbus Club, Inc.     Rick Lewis, G. K. 
D/B/A: Knights of Columbus, Sekenger Council #1947 

 2 Columbus Drive 
PUBLIC HEARING/ACTION 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
26. The Town Council will receive a report from the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, 

Recreation and Conservation Master Plan Committee, and take any appropriate action.  
(Councilor Walker and Councilor Watson) 

ACTION 
 
27. The Town Council will receive the draft Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), and will 

determine if any further action is necessary. (Finance Committee) 
DISCUSSION 

 
28. The Town Council will consider setting a public hearing for April 16, 2015, on a CDBG 

application for Gelato Fiasco, and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager) 
ACTION 

 
Executive Session: Labor Negotiations [1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(D)] 
 
 
 
 

INDIVIDUALS NEEDING AUXILIARY AIDS FOR EFFECTIVE 
COMMUNICATION SHOULD CONTACT  

THE TOWN MANAGER’S OFFICE AT 725-6659 (TDD 725-5521)



3 
 

 
Brunswick Town Council 

Agenda  
March 16, 2015 

Council Notes and Suggested Motions 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
a) Approval of the minutes of March 2, 2015:  A copy of the minutes is included in your packet. 
 
b) Approval of Quitclaim Deed for mobile home on land depicted as Map 045 Lot 003 Sub 000 

Typ 131:  This item deeds back a property to its owner, who has paid all back taxes.  A copy 
of the deed is included in your packet. 

 
c) Approval of Quitclaim Deed for mobile home on land depicted as Map 045 Lot 003 Sub 000 

Typ 185:  This item deeds back a property to its owner, who has paid all back taxes.  A copy 
of the deed is included in your packet. 

 
d) Permission to expend, if received, a Highway Safety Grant for Impaired Driving High 

Visibility Enforcement Program:  This item is to allow the Police Department to expend, if 
received, a grant from the Bureau of Highway Safety, which the department has already 
applied for and awaits possible notification of the award.  The amount requested is $5,000 
and requires no Town match.  Copies of information from the Bureau and the grant 
application are included in your packet. 

 
e) Permission to apply for, and if received, expend a Highway Safety Grant for Seat Belt 

enforcement:  This item is to allow the Police Department to apply for, and if received, 
expend a grant from the Bureau of Highway Safety regarding the Seat Belt Enforcement and 
Education Campaign.  The amount being requested is $1,500 and requires no Town match.  
A copy of information from the Bureau is included in your packet.    

 
The Council has the option to remove any item from the Consent Agenda to be considered 
separately. 
 

Suggested motion: 
Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT 
(a) Financial Update:  Manager Eldridge will update the Council on the Town’s financial picture 

to date for the current fiscal year.  Copies of financial reports will be posted online, but are 
not included in your packet. 

 
(b) Review of Budget meeting schedule:  Mr. Eldridge has prepared a meeting schedule for the 

upcoming budget process.  A copy of the draft schedule is included in your packet.   
 
(c) Reminder of the Public Hearing on NNEPRA Storm Water Management Law Permit 

Application:  This item is to remind the Council and public of the upcoming hearing on 
March 25th.  A copy of the notice is included in your packet.  

 



4 
 

(d) Reminder of local Legislators holding Community Forum on Governor’s proposed budget:  
This item is to inform the Council and public about this forum scheduled for Wednesday, 
March 18th at 7:00 p.m. at the Council Chambers.  A copy of the notice is included in your 
packet. 

 
(e) Update on METRO Bus Service to Brunswick:  This item is for Manager Eldridge to update 

the Council and public on information regarding expanding bus service to Brunswick from 
Portland.  Copies of a memo from Anna Breinich, along with supporting information, are 
included in your packet. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
25. This item is the required public hearing on a renewal special amusement application for 

the Knights of Columbus.  They are requesting live bands and D.J.s for a variety of 
functions, including wedding receptions and private parties in their banquet hall.  Copies 
of the public hearing notice and the application are included in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion: 
Motion to approve a renewal special amusement application for Knights of Columbus, 
located at 2 Columbus Drive. 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
26. This item, sponsored by Vice Chair Walker and Councilor Watson, is to consider the 

proposed Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area 
Management Plan to be added to the Recreation, Trails and Open Space Management 
Plan for Public Benefit Conveyances from the BNAS property.  The Parks and 
Recreation Director has provided staff support to a Town Committee tasked to develop a 
master plan for the property consistent with the Town’s original application to the U.S. 
Department of the Interior for property conveyances.  The committee has been working 
to develop the plan.  The process has involved a number of committee meetings and a 
public workshop to allow for input.  Copies of a memo from Tom Farrell, a presentation 
given at the public workshop held in December detailing the project and encouraging 
input, as well as a copy of the draft plan, are included in your packet.   

 
Suggested motion: 
Option 1 
Motion to adopt the proposed Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and 
Conservation Area Management Plan and to add it to the Recreation, Trails and Open 
Space Management Plan for Public Benefit Conveyances from the BNAS property. 

 
Option 2 
Take no action at this meeting, and bring it back at the April 6th meeting for adoption to 
allow additional time for public input. 

 
27. This item is for the Council to receive the draft Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) as 

proposed by the Finance Committee.  There is no action expected at this meeting, with 
further discussions at the March 30th CIP workshop.  A copy of the proposed CIP will be 



5 
 

provided at the meeting, since the Finance Committee will finalize it at their Thursday 
meeting, and staff will incorporate the committee’s recommendations. 

 
Suggested motion:  There is no action required. 

 
28. The Town Council will consider setting a public hearing for April 16, 2015, on an 

application on behalf of Gelato Fiasco for a CDBG grant in the amount of $350,000 to 
provide funding to support their production expansion in Brunswick.  The deadline for 
the Gelato Fiasco CDBG application is Friday, April 24, 2015.  The letter of intent was 
approved at your last meeting and this is the next step.  Assuming DECD invites the 
Town to apply, and in order for Linda Smith to have the maximum time to prepare the 
application, she has requested the public hearing be set for as close to the 24th as possible.  
The recommended date is Thursday, April 16th at which time the Council has scheduled a 
budget workshop.  The application will be available to the public and Council at the time 
the public hearing notice appears in the newspaper.  Without the completed application 
available, copies of materials from the last Council meeting, including a memo from Ms. 
Smith and the letter of intent, are included in your packet in order to provide some 
background information. 

 
Suggested motion: 
Motion to set a public hearing for April 16, 2015, on a CDBG application for Gelato 
Fiasco. 

 
Executive Session: Labor Negotiations [1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(D)] 
 

Suggested motion: 
Motion to go into executive session to discuss labor negotiations per 1 M.R.S.A. 
§405(6)(D). 

 
Suggested Motion:  
Motion to adjourn the meeting. 

 



 
 

CONSENT AGENDA - A 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



Draft 
BRUNSWICK TOWN COUNCIL 

Minutes 
March 2, 2015 

7:00 P.M. 
Council Chamber 

Town Hall 
85 Union Street 

 
Councilors Present: W. David Watson, Stephen S. Walker, Suzan Wilson, John M. Perreault, 

Daniel E. Harris, Jane F. Millett, Sarah E. Brayman, Katherine E. Wilson, and 
John Richardson, Jr. 

 
Councilors Absent: None 
 
Town Staff Present: John S. Eldridge, III, Town Manager; Fran Smith, Town Clerk/Assistant to 

the Town Manager; Steve Langsdorf, Town Attorney; Linda Smith, Business 
Development Manager; Richard Rizzo, Police Chief; Marc Hagan, Police 
Commander; Julie Henze, Finance Director; Terry Goan, Patrol Officer; and 
TV video crew 

 
Chair Brayman called the meeting to order, asked the Clerk for roll call, acknowledged that the 
meeting was properly noticed, and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Adjustments to Agenda  
 
Add an Executive Session: Personnel Matter [1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(A)] 
 
CONSENT AGENDA (This item was discussed at 7:02 p.m.) 
 

a) Approval of the Minutes of February 23, 2015 
 
Councilor Millett moved, Councilor Perreault seconded, to approve the Consent Agenda.  The 
motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
Public Comments  (This item was discussed at 7:03 p.m.) 
 
Ed Cowen, owner of Sunshine Too Laundromat, gave his opinion on the problems with the Cooks 
Corner area and that DDR’s rent increases have assisted with the problem.  The problem is the tax 
rate is higher in Brunswick than Topsham, there are newer buildings, and there has been a loss of 
foot traffic with the base closure.   
 
Councilor Millett responded to Mr. Cowen’s comments regarding the tax mill rate. 
 
Richard Fisco, 2 Lincoln Street, added to the discussion on the Cooks Corner Mall and tax 
abatement and said this is not unique to Brunswick. 
 
Manager Eldridge also responded, providing clarification on tax abatements and tax rates. 
 
Correspondence (This item was discussed at 7:10 p.m.) 



Town Council Minutes 
March 2, 2015 
Page 2 
 

 
 

 
Councilor Millett spoke regarding the meeting in Gray with representatives from municipalities, 
MMA, and the Governor’s Office, regarding the proposed Governor’s budget.  She also spoke 
regarding LD 131 regarding Charter schools being funded at the state level and said this would save 
the Town $400,000. 
 
Councilor K. Wilson said she received a call regarding the quality of town trash bags, which are not 
as good as they used to be.  Councilor S. Wilson and Councilor Perreault commented on the bags.  
 
Councilor K. Wilson also said the Bicycle Coalition of Maine gave an award to Lynn D’Agostino, 
the physical education teacher at HBS, for her work to promote walking and biking for students. 
 
Committee Reports (This item was discussed at 7:17p.m.) 
 
Chair Brayman appointed Councilor Harris as the Council representative to the firefighters union 
negotiations. 
 
Reports were given from the Finance Committee, Teen Center Advisor y Committee, and MPIC. 
 
MANAGER’S REPORT:  
 
a) Report from People Plus (This item was discussed at 7:20 p.m.) 
 
Stacy Frizzle, Executive Director, spoke regarding this item, as did Councilor Harris. 
 
b) Reminder of the Public Hearing on NNEPRA Storm Water Management Law Permit 

Application (This item was discussed at 7:29 p.m.) 
 

Manager Eldridge spoke regarding this item.   
 
c) Report on the Riverside Cemetery’s status (This item was discussed at 7:31 p.m.) 
 
Manager Eldridge spoke regarding this item. 
 
Councilor Perreault, Councilor Harris, Councilor K. Wilson, and Councilor Millett asked questions, 
to which Manager Eldridge and Mr. Langsdorf responded. 
 
(Copies of memos from Manager Eldridge and the Town Attorney will be attached to the official 
minutes.) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
18. The Town Council will consider supporting a Letter of Intent for a CDBG grant for 

Gelato Fiasco for a business expansion, and will take any appropriate action.  
(Manager) (This item was discussed at 7:39 p.m.) 

 



Town Council Minutes 
March 2, 2015 
Page 3 
 

 
 

Linda Smith, Business Development Manager, introduced this item. 
 
Councilor Walker, Councilor Perreault, and Councilor Harris asked questions, to which Linda Smith 
responded.  
 
Councilor Millett asked a question, to which Councilor Richardson responded. 
 
Councilor Richardson spoke regarding this item. 
 
The following people spoke regarding this item: 
Karen Klatt, 32 Moody Road 
Richard Fisco, 2 Lincoln Street 
Josh Davis, owner of Gelato Fiasco 
 
Councilor Richardson spoke regarding this item. 
 
Councilor Millett spoke regarding this item. 
 
MOTION: 
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to support a Letter of Intent for a 
CDBG grant in the amount of $350,000 for Gelato Fiasco to support their continued growth 
and production in Brunswick.  
 
Councilor Harris, Councilor Perreault, and Councilor K. Wilson spoke regarding this item. 
 
Councilor Walker asked a question, to which Ms. Smith responded. 
 
VOTE ON MOTION: 
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to support a Letter of Intent for a 
CDBG grant in the amount of $350,000 for Gelato Fiasco to support their continued growth 
and production in Brunswick.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas.  
 
(Copies of a memo from Linda Smith and the draft Letter of Intent will be attached to the official  
minutes.)  
 
19. The Town Council will consider accepting a “PeaceKeeper” armored vehicle donated 

by the Department of Defense’s military surplus, and will take any appropriate action. 
(Manager) (This item was discussed at 8:15 p.m.) 

 
Chief Rizzo introduced this item. 
 
Councilor Millett, Councilor Harris, Councilor Walker, Councilor Perreault, and Chair Brayman 
asked questions, to which Chief Rizzo and Commander Hagan responded. 
 
Councilor Watson spoke regarding this item. 
 



Town Council Minutes 
March 2, 2015 
Page 4 
 

 
 

Chair Brayman opened this item to public comment. 
 
The following people spoke regarding this item: 
Karen Klatt, 32 Moody Road  
Jason Coombs, 16 Growling Bear Drive 
Richard Fisco, 2 Lincoln Street. 
Joe Ciarrocca, 532 Harpswell Road  
 
MOTION: 
Councilor Millett moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to accept on behalf of the Police 
Department a “PeaceKeeper” armored vehicle donated by the Department of Defense’s 
military surplus.    
 
Councilor Perreault asked questions, to which Manager Eldridge responded.  He also spoke on this 
item. 
 
Councilor Richardson, Councilor K. Wilson, Councilor Millett, Councilor Harris, Councilor S. 
Wilson, Councilor Walker, Councilor Watson, and Chair Brayman all spoke on this item.  
 
VOTE ON MOTION: 
Councilor Millett moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to accept on behalf of the Police 
Department a “PeaceKeeper” armored vehicle donated by the Department of Defense’s 
military surplus.  The motion carried with eight (8) yeas.  Chair Brayman was opposed. 
 
(Copies of memos from Chief Rizzo and Commander Hagan, along with a photo of the vehicle, will 
be attached to the official minutes.). 
 
20. The Town Council will consider authorizing the Town Manager to move forward with 

drafting a TIF program, Development Program, and bond ordinance for the Cooks 
Corner area, and will take any appropriate action. (Manager) (This item was discussed 
at 9:17 p.m.) 

 
Manager Eldridge introduced this item. 
 
Chair Brayman and Councilor Millett asked questions, to which Manager Eldridge responded. 
 
MOTION: 
Councilor Millett moved, Councilor Richardson seconded, to authorize the Town Manager to 
move forward with drafting a TIF program, Development Program, and bond ordinance for 
the Cooks Corner area.   

 
Councilor Perreault, Councilor Harris, Councilor Walker, Councilor Richardson, and Councilor S. 
Wilson spoke regarding this item. 
 
Manager Eldridge spoke regarding this item. 
 



Town Council Minutes 
March 2, 2015 
Page 5 
 

 
 

Members of the public spoke: 
Ed Cowen, Sunshine Too Laundromat 
Joe Ciarrocca, 532 Harpswell Road 
Nina Thiboutot, 35 Thomas Point Road 
Richard Fisco, 2 Lincoln Street 
Karen Klatt, 32 Moody Road 
 
Councilor Millett spoke on this item. 
 
VOTE ON MOTION: 
Councilor Millett moved, Councilor Richardson seconded, to authorize the Town Manager to 
move forward with drafting a TIF program, Development Program, and bond ordinance for 
the Cooks Corner area. The motion carried with six (6) yeas.  Councilor Perreault, Councilor 
Harris, and Councilor Walker were opposed. 
 
21. The Town Council will consider the following requests for Sellers of Prepared Food on 

Public Ways on the Brunswick Mall, and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager) 
(This item was discussed at 10:01 p.m.) 

 
Farmer’s Market   Danny’s Dogs 
The Crabby Lobster   Wrappers 

 
Fran Smith spoke regarding this item. 
 
Councilor Harris asked a question, to which Manager Eldridge and Atty. Langsdorf responded. 
 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to approve licenses for Sellers of 
Prepared Food on Public Ways for the Brunswick Mall for the Farmer’s Market, Danny’s 
Dogs, The Crabby Lobster, and Wrappers.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas.  
 
22. The Town Council will consider a request for Sellers of Prepared Food on Public Ways 

for outdoor seating, and will take any appropriate action. (Manager)  (This item was 
discussed at 10:08 p.m.) 
 
  Flipside, 111 Maine Street 
  Frosty’s Donuts, 54 Maine Street 

Gelato Fiasco, 74 Maine Street 
  Great Impasta, 42 Maine Street 
  Little Saigon, 44 Maine Street 

Shere Punjab, 46 Maine Street 
 
Fran Smith spoke regarding this item. 
 
Councilor Millett and Councilor Perreault spoke regarding this item.  
 



Town Council Minutes 
March 2, 2015 
Page 6 
 

 
 

Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor S. Wilson seconded, to approve licenses for Sellers of 
Prepared Food on Public Ways on a Sidewalk for Flipside, 111 Maine Street; Frosty’s Donuts, 
54 Maine Street;Gelato Fiasco, 74 Maine Street; Great Impasta, 42 Maine Street; Little 
Saigon, 44 Maine Street; and Shere Punjab, 46 Maine Street.  The motion carried with nine (9) 
yeas.  
 
23. The Town Council will consider amending the charge of the Bicycle and Pedestrian 

Advisory Committee to include a Council representative as one of their members, and 
to have the Committee review their charge, including determining terms for members, 
and will take any appropriate action.  (Chair Brayman) (This item was discussed at 10:10 
p.m.) 

 
Chair Brayman introduced this item. 
 
Councilor K. Wilson moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to amend the charge of the Bicycle 
and Pedestrian Advisory Committee to include a Council representative as one of their 
members.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas.  
 
Chair Brayman moved, Councilor Richardson seconded, to have BPAC review their charge to 
make recommendations for any necessary updates, including making recommendations on 
creating staggered terms of office for their members, and to report back to the Council by 
June 1, 2015.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas.  

 
Chair Brayman appointed  Councilor K. Wilson to BPAC as the Council representative. 
 
24. The Town Council will consider appointments to the Town’s Boards and Committees, 

and will take any appropriate action. (Appointments Committee) (This item was 
discussed at 10:14 p.m.) 

 
Councilor Millett made the following nominations: 
 

MPIC 
Crystal Card - a creative economy member with a term to expire on 12/01/2017 
Planning Board 
Charles Frizzle – reappointment with a term to expire on 02/23/2018  
Jeremy Evans – appointment with a term to expire on 02/23/2018 
Board of Assessment Review 
Stephen Holt –reappointment with a term to expire on 01/12/2018  
Dorothy Ollier - reappointment with a term to expire on 01/12/2018 
Conservation Commission 
Thomas Rumpf - reappointment with a term to expire on 05/1/2016 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Committee 
William (Ben) Walsh – appointment with no set term 
Recycling and Sustainability Committee 
William (Ben) Walsh – appointment with a term to expire on 01/01/2017 

 



Town Council Minutes 
March 2, 2015 
Page 7 
 

 
 

Councilor Perreault and Councilor Walker spoke regarding the Planning Board openings.   
 
The Planning Board positions were not included in the slate vote for the other nominations. 
 
Councilor Millett and Councilor Perreault spoke regarding this item. 
 
Councilor Richardson moved, Councilor K. Wilson seconded, to vote on the slate of nominees 
as listed above except for Charles Frizzle and Jeremy Evans, who will be voted on separately.  
The motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
Councilor Richardson moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to appoint Charles Frizzle to the 
Planning Board for a term to expire on 02/23/2018.  The motion carried with eight (8) yeas.  
Councilor Walker was opposed. 
 
Councilor Richardson moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to appoint Jeremy Evans to the 
Planning Board for a term to expire on 02/23/2018.  The motion carried with seven (7) yeas.  
Councilor S. Wilson and Councilor Perreault were opposed. 
 
Executive Session: Personnel Matter [1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(A)] 
 
Chair Brayman moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to go into executive session to discuss a 
Personnel Matter per 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(A).  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
Councilor Watson moved, Councilor Richardson seconded, to adjourn the meeting.  The 
motion carried with nine (9) yeas.  
 
The meeting adjourned at 10:36 p.m. 
 
PLEASE NOTE:  THESE MINUTES ARE ACTION MINUTES.  THE ENTIRE MEETING 
CAN BE VIEWED AT WWW.BRUNSWICKME.ORG.  
 
 
Frances M. Smith 
Town Clerk 
March 9, 2015 
 

March 16, 2015 
Date of Approval 

 

___________________________ 
Council Chair 

 
 



 
 

CONSENT AGENDA - B 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 





 
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA - C 
BACK UP MATERIALS 





 
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA - D 
BACK UP MATERIALS 















 
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA - E 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
 
 
March 4, 2015 
 
 
 
 
 
The Maine Bureau of Highway Safety (MeBHS) is accepting applications for the 2015 “Buckle Up – No 
Excuses!” Seat Belt Enforcement and Education Campaign.  . The campaign will start on May 18th and end on 
May 31, 2015 in conjunction with the national Click It or Ticket program.  It will focus on high visibility 
seat belt enforcement and occupant protection education.  

 
Grant funding is available to reimburse departments for dedicated overtime details for occupant protection (seat 
belt and child safety seat) enforcement.  Participating departments will conduct overtime details to support the 
national mobilization. MeBHS will provide grant funds for dedicated overtime details for occupant protection 
enforcement.  

 
Enforcement details may be conducted in day or nighttime hours and preferably during times when traffic 
volumes are adequate to permit numerous traffic stops.  Departments who participate in this campaign must 
conduct no less than 40 hours of details and conduct fifty percent (50%) of the details at night between the 
hours of 6:00 P.M. and 2:00 A.M. 
 
Below are a few tips on positive nighttime enforcement:  
• Two person cruisers can be effective in observing seat belt violations 
• Patrol in well-lit areas 
• Have a spotter (plain clothes at an intersection) calling in violations 
• Set up safety checkpoints (having the officer that is directing the vehicles into the  safety check point 

observing the violations) 
 

Participating departments will not be required to provide a cash match to participate in this program. However, 
departments will be required to submit seat belt and child safety seat violation ticket numbers and or copies of 
seat belt tickets with their cash request paperwork so that MeBHS can document an in-kind match.  

 
     Highway Safety Coordinators will be available to answer questions about grant submission and assist with the 

grant application.  Please call (207) 626-3840 with any questions. 
 

Additional program details and application instructions are listed below. Your grant application must be 
received by our office on or before March 31, 2015. This is a strict deadline to assure timely grant processing. 

 

  Paul R. LePage 
Governor 

STATE OF MAINE 
Department of Public Safety 
Bureau of Highway Safety 

164 State House Station 
Augusta, Maine 

04333-0164 
 

John E. Morris 
Commissioner 

Lauren V. Stewart 
 Director 

Click It or Ticket ~ Buckle Up-No Excuses! 
2015 Click It or Ticket High Visibility Enforcement Campaign and Increased Seat Belt Enforcement 

 

     
   
                                                                                                                                                                                                                Offices Located At: 
:                                                                                                                                                                                          Central Maine Commerce Center 

                                                                                                                                                                                       45 Commerce Dr, Suite 1 
                                                                                                                                                                                         Augusta, ME 04330 

                                                                                                                                                                                            Phone: (207) 626-3840      Fax: (207) 287-3042 
                                                                                                
  

 Buckle Up. Drive Safely. 



 
 
Although last year we had the fewest number of fatalities on Maine roads since 1944, the lack of seat belt 
use in the age group of 16 to 34 year olds continues to account for about 50% of all fatalities. It is the 
efforts of the many law enforcement agencies around the state that have contributed to the overall 
decrease in fatalities, but we can’t stop until the number is zero. Therefore, we are asking all of the 
participating agencies to emphasize and increase your efforts in seat belt enforcement and education 
during this 2015 Click It or Ticket and “Buckle Up. No Excuses!” campaign and throughout the year.  It 
is only through your dedication and commitment to occupant protection that we can achieve our goal to 
reduce the numbers of unbelted fatalities on our roadways. 

 
Informational handouts and other information related to the campaign can be found at the website listed below.  

 
http://www.trafficsafetymarketing.gov/CAMPAIGNS/Seat+Belts/Click+It+or+Ticket/National+Mobilization 

 
HOW TO APPLY: Complete the grant application as indicated and submit to the Bureau. Do not modify the 
application. Applications must be submitted via e-mail to angela.roberts@maine.gov.  

All pages must be mailed to: 
Bureau of Highway Safety, 164 State House Station, Augusta, ME 04333-0164.  
The Bureau cannot process the application until the signature pages have been received.  

MeBHS does require receipt of the original signature on pages where a signature is required.   For this grant, 
original signatures are required on pages 2 and 14.   Please mail ONLY those pages with the original signatures 
on them to our office.   We will attach those original signature pages to your e-mailed application. 
 

DUE DATE: Applications for the Program is due by March 31, 2015. 
 

AMOUNT OF AVAILABLE FUNDS:  Funds will be awarded based on your application request.  An 
application submission does not guarantee the Bureau will provide a sub-grant award. The final award amount 
will be at the discretion of the Bureau. 
 

PROJECT PERIOD: A sub-grant awarded by the Bureau as a result of an application must be used during the 
2015 Click It or Ticket and “Buckle Up – No Excuses!” Seat Belt Enforcement and Education Campaigns.  The 
award period runs from May 18, 2015 to May 31, 2015. 
 

SUB-GRANT AWARD NOTIFICATION: If the Bureau determines that an application meets all the 
specifications put forth in this document and the Bureau makes a sub-grant award, the department will be 
notified by a Bureau staff member of the approval.  A sub-grant award package will be sent to the department as 
notification. Enforcement activities cannot begin until the application and resulting contract have been approved 
and signed by both parties. 
 

SUB-GRANT AWARD REPORTING REQUIREMENTS: During the span of the sub grant period, 
applicants will be required to meet reporting requirements. These requirements include, but are not limited to, 
timely submission of cash reimbursement requests, detail sheets, progress reports, and project director’s time 
tracking, as well as regular contact with the department’s Bureau grant coordinator. 
 

APPLICATION PROCESS: Please follow the instructions outlined in the 2015 Click It or Ticket High 
Visibility Enforcement Campaign & Increased Seat Belt Enforcement Program Application. Substantial 

     
   
                                                                                                                                                                                                                Offices Located At: 
:                                                                                                                                                                                          Central Maine Commerce Center 

                                                                                                                                                                                       45 Commerce Dr, Suite 1 
                                                                                                                                                                                         Augusta, ME 04330 

                                                                                                                                                                                            Phone: (207) 626-3840      Fax: (207) 287-3042 
                                                                                                
  

 Buckle Up. Drive Safely. 

http://www.trafficsafetymarketing.gov/CAMPAIGNS/Seat+Belts/Click+It+or+Ticket/National+Mobilization
mailto:angela.roberts@maine.gov


 
 
justification of a jurisdiction’s Seat Belt problem, an enforcement plan and calendar, and a budget must all be 
included before the Bureau can review an application.  
 
Departments will be notified of application approval by receiving an award package and contracts. Applicants 
who are denied will be notified by letter. Please call MeBHS at 626-3840 if you have any questions about the 
application process. 
 
TIMELINE:  The MeBHS will adhere to the following timeline for this campaign. Departments must adhere to 
the timeline as part of the grant process requirements: 
 
March 31: Application submission deadline. Departments should e-mail their applications to MeBHS, if 
possible, following the “Application Process” procedures listed above. 
 

April 28: Award packages sent out to agencies. 
 

May 5: Participating departments must have their two grant contracts signed by the person responsible for this 
grant (person listed on page 1 of the grant application under #3, “Individual Who has Legal Authority to Sign 
Application”).  Contracts MAY BE FAXED to MeBHS at 287-3042, but the original signed contracts MUST 
BE MAILED to MeBHS also. We will accept faxed contracts in order to meet the contract submission deadline 
of May 5. The original contracts must also be received in order to comply with all grant processing 
requirements. 
 

May 18 – May 31: Two week seat belt high visibility enforcement and education campaign.  Participating 
departments must conduct no less than 40 hours of dedicated overtime details with no less than 20 hours 
conducted at night (between 6:00pm-2:00am) for this campaign.  Activities must begin and end on these dates. 
 

June 29: Cash reimbursement requests and all accompanying paperwork (detail reports, financial sheets, 
summary progress report, list of seat belt violation ticket numbers and/or copies of seat belt tickets) must be 
received by MeBHS for the Click It or Ticket and “Buckle Up – No Excuses!” Seat Belt Enforcement and 
Education Campaigns. 
 
 

MATCH REQUIREMENT:   
• Departments are required to provide an in-kind match that will be used toward the match requirement 

associated with the federal funds used for this program.  

• Departments will meet this match requirement by documenting the actual project director’s time spent 
managing this grant and by providing copies of Seat Belt and Child Safety Seat citations given during 
Bureau-funded overtime details/roadblocks.  

• Departments’ award packages will include the total match amount required by the department. This 
amount will be based on the total funds awarded to the department.  

• Departments must submit in-kind match documentation with each cash reimbursement request on the 
forms that will be provided by the Bureau in the sub-grant award package.   

 

     
   
                                                                                                                                                                                                                Offices Located At: 
:                                                                                                                                                                                          Central Maine Commerce Center 

                                                                                                                                                                                       45 Commerce Dr, Suite 1 
                                                                                                                                                                                         Augusta, ME 04330 

                                                                                                                                                                                            Phone: (207) 626-3840      Fax: (207) 287-3042 
                                                                                                
  

 Buckle Up. Drive Safely. 



 
 
PROGRAM DETAILS 
 

 High Visibility Enforcement means officers are expected to make as many traffic stops as possible. The 
motoring public should have the perception that police are actively enforcing traffic laws. High Visibility 
Enforcement also means that you will publicize your activities using both earned and paid media.  

 

 Because these funds are awarded based on evidence, departments will be expected to follow the 
enforcement plan provided in their application to the Bureau. The Bureau recognizes that some details may 
change due to circumstances beyond a department’s control. In those situations, a department is expected 
to notify the Bureau as soon as possible and make enforcement plan adjustments accordingly. 

 

 Overtime details and/or roadblocks for this program must be scheduled during hours that the impaired 
driving problem is prevalent in a jurisdiction. Departments must include data to support the days and times 
when impaired driving and impaired driving-related crashes occur as justification for the enforcement plan 
and enforcement planning calendar. 

 

 The Bureau will not pay for details in excess of 6 hours or for sobriety checkpoint details in excess of 6 
hours. If a department can provide data or an explanation as to why a detail or checkpoint would exceed 6 
hours that should be submitted with the departments cash request. If the Bureau decides to fund the 
extension the department will be notified. 
 

 If an officer makes an arrest or processes a criminal complaint summons during the detail but does not 
complete the arrest/summons before the detail is scheduled to end, the officer can continue working under 
the grant-funded detail to complete that arrest/summons. 

 

 A minimum two hour block is required in between all patrols worked by the same officer in a single day. 
This block cannot be funded by the Bureau. 

 

 Supplanting of funds is prohibited. Funds for programs and services provided through this grant are 
intended to supplement, not supplant, other state or local funding sources. Supplanting is defined as 
replacing routine and/or existing State or local expenditures with the use of Federal grant funds and/or 
using Federal grant funds for costs of activities that constitute general expenses required to carry out the 
overall responsibilities of State, local, or Federally-recognized Indian tribal governments 
 

 Participating departments should have the commitment of their officers to ensure that planned details are 
conducted.  Departments will be expected to follow the plan given in the application with the 
understanding that some details may change due to circumstances beyond your control. 

 

 This grant cannot be used to pay for any project director time that is spent in administration of this grant. 
That time will be used as in-kind match. 

 

 In addition to enforcement efforts, departments will be required to document their educational efforts in 
their final summary and evaluation report.  Information must include date and time of the event, involved 
officers, target audience, number of participants, and a brief description of the presentation.  Occupant 
Protection Education may include any efforts made by your agency during the grant period to provide 
instruction and/or educational opportunities for children, teens or adults in any aspect of occupant 
protection.   

     
   
                                                                                                                                                                                                                Offices Located At: 
:                                                                                                                                                                                          Central Maine Commerce Center 

                                                                                                                                                                                       45 Commerce Dr, Suite 1 
                                                                                                                                                                                         Augusta, ME 04330 

                                                                                                                                                                                            Phone: (207) 626-3840      Fax: (207) 287-3042 
                                                                                                
  

 Buckle Up. Drive Safely. 



 
 

 

 Bureau coordinators will work closely with departments to ensure the grant budget is followed, the 
enforcement plan and enforcement calendar are followed and/or adjusted accordingly, and that cash 
reimbursement requests are submitted in a timely manner. Coordinators will provide any assistance 
needed. 
 

 MeBHS will support your efforts during this campaign with paid and earned media coverage.  We may 
request departmental assistance at press events for this campaign. Participating departments are 
encouraged to attract local media for your particular events. 

 

 Departments must collect and submit information on the number of traffic stops made and the number of 
citations and warnings issued during the overtime details. The “Seat Belt Enforcement Detail Report” will 
be included with your award packet for your use. 

 

 Only one cash reimbursement request will be submitted for this campaign. The cash request and all 
required accompanying paperwork must be received by MeBHS by June 29,2015   Departments must 
submit, with the cash request, a list of all the seat belt violation ticket numbers and/or copies of seat belt 
tickets that were given out during the enforcement details. The MeBHS will not pay for details in excess of 
4 hours, unless the detail is pre-approved by MeBHS or a documented impaired driving arrest is made 
during the course of the detail by the assigned officer. 

. 

 Departments must collect and submit information on the number of traffic stops made and the number of 
citations and warnings issued during the overtime details. Data should be submitted on the Enforcement 
Detail Report that will be included with the award packet.  Departments will be required to document their 
enforcement efforts and submit an enforcement summary report with each cash reimbursement request.  

 

 Please make a copy of the entire application before returning it to MeBHS. MeBHS is asking that the 
entire application be returned to us with all signed pages as we will need all aspects of the application for 
our records. 

 

Highway Safety Coordinators are always available to meet with you and are available to help prepare 
applications and assist with sub-grant requirements.  We look forward to working with you. 
           
 
 
Sincerely,           

          
Lauren V. Stewart, Director        
Maine Bureau of Highway Safety        

     
   
                                                                                                                                                                                                                Offices Located At: 
:                                                                                                                                                                                          Central Maine Commerce Center 

                                                                                                                                                                                       45 Commerce Dr, Suite 1 
                                                                                                                                                                                         Augusta, ME 04330 

                                                                                                                                                                                            Phone: (207) 626-3840      Fax: (207) 287-3042 
                                                                                                
  

 Buckle Up. Drive Safely. 



 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - A 
NO BACK UP MATERIALS 
IN COUNCIL PACKETS 
BUT ON LINE 
 
 



 
 
 

03/10/2015 14:14    |Town of Brunswick |P      1
jhenze              |FEBRUARY 2015 REVENUE REPORT |glytdbud

 
 

FOR 2015 08
 

ORIGINAL REVISED ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL MTD REMAINING PCT
                                         ESTIM REV EST REV REVENUE REVENUE REVENUE COLL
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
 

10 Taxes                              
_________________________________________

 
111190 41101  Property Taxes   36,189,094  36,189,094  36,467,379.39       1,497.96                   -278,285.39  100.8%*
111190 41103  Deferred Property Tax     -200,000    -200,000            .00            .00                   -200,000.00     .0% 
111190 41104  Tax Abatements      -75,000     -75,000     -17,894.51      -4,674.44                    -57,105.49   23.9% 
111190 41105  Interest on Taxes       75,000      75,000      39,203.25       6,975.82                     35,796.75   52.3%*
111190 41106  Tax Lien Costs Revenu       12,000      12,000      14,586.69         234.00                     -2,586.69  121.6%*
111190 41107  Tax Lien Interest Rev       12,000      12,000      17,999.85            .00                     -5,999.85  150.0%*
111190 41109  Payment in Lieu of Ta      150,000     150,000     103,900.30       8,000.00                     46,099.70   69.3%*
111190 41197  BETE reimbursement      157,895     157,895     413,635.00            .00                   -255,740.00  262.0%*
111190 41198  Homestead exemption r      427,247     427,247     321,993.00            .00                    105,254.00   75.4%*
111190 41199  Miscellaneous tax adj        3,343       3,343            .00            .00                      3,343.00     .0%*
111191 41110  Excise Tax - Auto    2,825,000   2,825,000   1,894,146.96     192,831.99                    930,853.04   67.0%*
111191 41111  Excise Tax Boat/ATV/S       25,000      25,000       4,318.55         418.40                     20,681.45   17.3%*
111191 41112  Excise Tax - Airplane        4,000       4,000       5,286.73       5,286.73                     -1,286.73  132.2%*

 
TOTAL Taxes                        39,605,579  39,605,579  39,264,555.21     210,570.46                    341,023.79   99.1%

 
TOTAL REVENUES   39,605,579  39,605,579  39,264,555.21     210,570.46                    341,023.79

 
20 Licenses & Fees                    
_________________________________________

 
121111 42207  Passport Fees        8,000       8,000       9,100.00       1,400.00                     -1,100.00  113.8%*
121111 42208  Postage Fees            0           0          39.98            .00                        -39.98  100.0%*
121111 42209  Passport Picture Reve        2,000       2,000       1,668.00            .00                        332.00   83.4%*
121411 42100  Building Permits      132,500     132,500     114,318.07       7,701.60                     18,181.93   86.3%*
121411 42101  Electrical Permits       31,000      31,000      24,988.11       1,229.16                      6,011.89   80.6%*
121411 42102  Plumbing Permits       20,500      20,500      14,115.00         967.50                      6,385.00   68.9%*
121611 42200  Hunting & Fishing Lic        1,300       1,300         640.00          50.25                        660.00   49.2%*
121611 42201  Dog License Fee        2,502       2,502       2,381.00         247.00                        121.00   95.2%*
121611 42202  Vital Statistics       45,000      45,000      35,968.80       3,974.80                      9,031.20   79.9%*
121611 42203  General Licenses       24,250      24,250      12,952.50       6,325.00                     11,297.50   53.4%*
121611 42204  Victulars/Innkeepers       20,675      20,675         650.00          50.00                     20,025.00    3.1%*
121611 42205  Shellfish Licenses       15,175      15,175         250.00            .00                     14,925.00    1.6%*
121611 42206  Neutered/Spayed Dog L        4,510       4,510       4,348.00         434.00                        162.00   96.4%*
121611 42208  Postage Fees            0           0         366.48          39.98                       -366.48  100.0%*
121911 42300  Planning Board Appl F       15,000      15,000      18,428.09       3,218.94                     -3,428.09  122.9%*
122121 42400  Fire Permits          500         500         130.00            .00                        370.00   26.0%*
122221 42500  Conc Weapons Permits          600         600         605.00          65.00                         -5.00  100.8%*
122221 42501  Parking Permit fee            0           0         175.00            .00                       -175.00  100.0%*
123131 42600  Public Works Opening            0           0          48.00            .00                        -48.00  100.0%*

 
 
 
 
 

/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=R/5KjJDhfaxMvcZxIkzK2aPAn28BpjoaekTgBCbUpQPyJPG1J8yetWP1K/jwmFWI&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=ACFMRQst/MrjBrSrDGb/F4ekMSnCRPonbz8ZTdLKabtqIWwCvcmh9zu/VcxspF1s&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=gtzIE5Url17QNtpvybMWuF5J3%2BStgscZUf4fUrcw1s/yf8/al1oHzdGUjHk3tSc7&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=5RB3o2vqVjBDQjHkR0uNfmTnH02ausWnyjd5XBMEt7vWyo6TujPs7VkrfIzqJIcK&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=2NEfQAe5N47xoE7%2BqeL3PphgUNY9UGS2DweMcMVYjmnOdO/nJCie5v4vvuKdn%2BCU&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=Axh9h6MZG0wwE0yqTJ0fG/K4TFZUzci2PR9gK5rTL4mQHNW3lAVcarIC5da5fOQA&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=PefU6dqGWCmgyQ42JeN49Q5jZ7AWXbwRn7bLEHjoVC147JqR%2Bodqwn/BesHqwtS1&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=mGF5OZqoOPur%2B7sJzFb%2BOKHsIu6P6dnUOLkZhbs8J5S4clxDohl1soqWx1AY7Yj3&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=oHswuC%2BDhgVSViuGe0xOonRSaQKtBvj2wMgSbdk3jIwjgniNlk1siGkpz6C1AtpQ&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=kthSsMCQo06uWGiHhO3I9IGPw7xofGIApCXTt3T0lAjp2axRG8MAqehDYu3fR4nV&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=vBn6kDGtpNTfN1DUSmrQ%2BQ8FqKLFciBiXEgc6ACD770uIQfu8COGDrVciQXW2JAb&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=5wnW7A07VauXs/MvriReSO7eROsT2scwB7y654QqGJvwRvMhhKHBkbpZozDhPaVP&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=8QzIo1FoNpvXYuDNYvZna72Mr//F8FKAsX8c1jemkZSCnJUv2gn3XGVBVsAOyTlV&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=9vx%2Bd92ukO2gOZZKOYbzGiQuuI0xhPfmfXS3%2B8BCavpXQyf73Il9T4%2B2QjaysSV8&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=2icw8dh8u9m6DcEQusWJcjVEjXVv21c59T7CQaFKs44JzTQMS%2BSjdEi2H8KtIFyu&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=l2Vsi8u1xX7H%2BpwnbVD3FMOJFw5LeRIVYwKvli008pVq2tXsAa5W6XV9qqdViPAe&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=QRR0lMUu1U4aZ7Pkf6xRHTMDbO3tibOqMKAousse0bq5n5nozEGlCRKrRsdG0emt&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=P%2Be2jo0zQlka7acgcjaMF4yh8/JclnHEBK5rhh4CEckbKGXXLA5X%2BxIF4I%2BkyC0M&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=3I9YE/UPSphHINXM7o%2B5UwbtB%2BBi5IUrJLaqLFVWpKfwT%2BQVJ/HMAZXXwN13n1ij&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=duZ%2BPLppLPlSbIfFLETjFl9jp3z7OblgFy3yfkWi20naRsz4WSI4saBvcg8iQ0jg&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=S5zbm2AvMsoVTlUfDi%2By%2BwEAdGjexKBshHiHji7brMdLb4Au%2BpW15EVfjjVOyxs0&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=mxKW%2BsVMVmLYP06zhYwSexwf9BNzbOhGIllhkBH3/LXKEQxqZksrW6OKZHiJAI1E&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=W0P%2BJtVKiV/r%2BJVTP1RGzpLO4pQamo5%2B4Q3ild6UGaM6sTw9RLfFICjCRbn0UEYJ&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=%2Bzei5KTfoN7Cly%2B3w4YRN5d3gwHUfxMZXA6wc1HOS8Rrn0pdWymx5Giax6lAZb7O&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=2dTn/F18fRoc5G2/5KOC6IRc9CRNFjajuUyn4TuJ%2Bn%2BmdrmN9Bml7YCKQW6iXZkC&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=VKuUljmYWLmlq%2BLP%2BGVSwLZRvw7DQFjV9fHVRB1CkVnDON9uiaeNL3owOPdhz1dN&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=dtn%2BNYb38RXs1/pUzg1wwUIRPyI6tDN9FfCT2fGH5Ra3pMZkaG9uSgX9BlB86ETe&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=EJUY7wdmK1U/fdEr5d6pjpFugCOezh8dxNVq7gPiX1rqabqtDfUsllgrHK/h2BW3&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=a6M2BqwZj3w1gJfAxr30QqvlxHPy%2BRTwg9aXIzT/kLrplg7r2DlMfuA%2BlEGhur3/&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=yVGlNfstGPimk4AMVVISorB8r%2Buj9tWEnPrZhAM7Ar34hTlE7AtObpFYlsxP4B/b&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=PuJ2AHkJYB4/vRBL9WpMaup17sv%2BW%2B/IlXyx%2Bo0IT2sNmoBM4V111DCVvhOFi/mr&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=ZV6wYDLEQElLJ8wf7Iq%2BfbO3RH2Uogjt5R5Zc9QNyFnAEhz%2B7O0Yhm5tOvs3w9EA&


 
 
 

03/10/2015 14:14    |Town of Brunswick |P      2
jhenze              |FEBRUARY 2015 REVENUE REPORT |glytdbud

 
 

FOR 2015 08
 

ORIGINAL REVISED ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL MTD REMAINING PCT
                                         ESTIM REV EST REV REVENUE REVENUE REVENUE COLL
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
 

TOTAL Licenses & Fees                 323,512     323,512     241,172.03      25,703.23                     82,339.97   74.5%
 

TOTAL REVENUES      323,512     323,512     241,172.03      25,703.23                     82,339.97
 

30 Intergovernmental                  
_________________________________________

 
131122 43505  FD EMPG grant       15,000      15,000       8,776.84            .00                      6,223.16   58.5%*
131132 43103  Highway Grant Fund      214,000     214,000     197,188.00            .00                     16,812.00   92.1%*
131142 43104  State General Assista       24,000      24,000      20,395.19       5,669.10                      3,604.81   85.0%*
131190 43102  State Tax Exemption R       40,000      40,000       8,175.51            .00                     31,824.49   20.4%*
131192 43101  State Revenue Sharing      977,671     977,671     674,299.39     110,811.68                    303,371.61   69.0%*
131192 43105  Emergency Management            0           0      11,146.71            .00                    -11,146.71  100.0%*
131192 43106  Snowmobile Receipts        1,400       1,400       1,628.52            .00                       -228.52  116.3%*
134546 43120  State Education Subsi    9,946,831   9,946,831   6,111,204.09            .00                  3,835,626.91   61.4%*
134546 43150  Federal Education Sub            0           0      13,758.19            .00                    -13,758.19  100.0%*

 
TOTAL Intergovernmental            11,218,902  11,218,902   7,046,572.44     116,480.78                  4,172,329.56   62.8%

 
TOTAL REVENUES   11,218,902  11,218,902   7,046,572.44     116,480.78                  4,172,329.56

 
40 Charges for services               
_________________________________________

 
141111 44110  Agent Fee Auto Reg       50,000      50,000      32,025.00       3,280.00                     17,975.00   64.1%*
141111 44111  Agent Fee Boat/ATV/Sn        1,500       1,500         658.00          74.00                        842.00   43.9%*
141211 44121  Rental of Property            0           0         800.00            .00                       -800.00  100.0%*
141611 44131  Advertising Fees            0           0         629.84            .00                       -629.84  100.0%*
142121 44155  Ambulance Service Fee      875,000     875,000     624,821.80      77,876.47                    250,178.20   71.4%*
142121 44166  Special Detail - Fire        1,000       1,000       1,951.84            .00                       -951.84  195.2%*
142221 44161  Witness Fees        3,000       3,000       2,900.00         350.00                        100.00   96.7%*
142221 44162  Police Reports        3,600       3,600       3,274.00         763.50                        326.00   90.9%*
142221 44163  School Resource Offic       84,000      84,000      84,000.00            .00                           .00  100.0%*
142221 44165  Special Detail - Poli        1,000       1,000      40,163.00       1,647.00                    -39,163.00 4016.3%*
142221 44167  Dispatch Services fee      141,500     141,500      97,519.17      10,994.27                     43,980.83   68.9%*
143431 44175  Recycling Revenue       25,000      25,000      13,027.45            .00                     11,972.55   52.1%*
144545 44100  School Tuition, etc      137,000     137,000      87,534.95      63,268.45                     49,465.05   63.9%*
145051 44121  Rental of Property            0           0         800.00            .00                       -800.00  100.0%*

 
TOTAL Charges for services          1,322,600   1,322,600     990,105.05     158,253.69                    332,494.95   74.9%

 
TOTAL REVENUES    1,322,600   1,322,600     990,105.05     158,253.69                    332,494.95

 
50 Fines & Penalties                  
_________________________________________

 
151621 45103  Unlicensed Dog Fines        6,250       6,250       5,825.00       5,075.00                        425.00   93.2%*

 

/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=A6zYWuoBMJOrvvPQUbVM%2Bp79lTwKb2hC7dyVfZeVyJuj46n%2BPcApsxlS6//5X7I1&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=s1inLJw4CWAcm5NZDaSNn7ebO8yXIRG3glC%2BQuvGl1vV%2B6HsHMXtIR%2BHRkZfADgz&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=B/MDafjPqxL05F05M0qUqlo9owbWG6FPBBaBvfIu1NvvQpPYLB4DVmOS/Bkf9Geh&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=qG1%2B/OxQCy/absYElJjRRYN9RxPnao6xSPJyAdUBjx2hEYvz2d40NU5EnGKzxzse&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=1TQbdTEm2Y3Elci9a/ZzYLShU/zuw3ROr56sIAEdquwdytlTugwyKcMKLf%2BeO6In&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=GRZ9MIGFu2FzHF6Mn5EF2TqeGRtF/uG3TpsGv6hsL1Ncj0WFX%2BmiPK7mDZQexzWx&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=27HPHekfekCN0092QWPpcpeuGWCyb6hPtAVB1Mj0a67%2B/rgfUOFAQlPsu3Zmm2W%2B&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=hqKiyf9hOx3irR3R7ZP0TQv3GuApncnquMyT9yb81kD/xFoE6%2BRG0gfDnBxNa06P&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=bGz81tpJDYPfiQT7cFe1Sk/m8EtC%2BxfTxNy3E5tcIdQnOGEVmWknDDwPNlmyHS4n&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=leXrL61QGRu4IvI9TNEZF7obw8TGNY45ne1grXWpPLPvDm2cOIQG7ZmNYY8TaPNY&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=dLoOykQHMSXGc%2BeeZ52pNrKfO5mqJqzSihd3X%2BbuT9hjlq6RfTIdYrcJoexXYmDS&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=HfasSyl%2BJzl1Wmietf9SbBM4ChKMWDgsTTvQcg2RS3RfnPgfrYovPTGsnG29g3hC&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=ovuUJtaFQvUMSAE1fV2jRjo/iSMUZrsZpa4V7ko8zup3zWhliXEuCEywWxiyB4cF&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=9WRENGIEMi2zOn1bDb0yxaAqLZWj9gtBcy6goF46pgvLRR3Ll3rcvg4uDDOYXY6S&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=YWFrtduJ9PL8Gz/BiVWMHfgK/PxLj%2BL4wfFtfxmNa6R%2Bdl3AlMdDbuheXeollu0O&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=aZZYEK9BnV6phKP1qOop7eWNea%2Bm0AJoSIZNw2NY0wW3R9XFqQjNe9nERsj6x0%2BU&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=n3Ti0eEmZegqu3zgpnoh3XgUvbIOsmtyKhHiCfzCfVwtfHlbrsxYPoM5FdZrI6DI&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=%2BHQb6F5u2kooSzDMlSYCrTvjPDr9rQ5B7scvHEmj8OJLUjIa1J8rqjhE8vx/Mt2z&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=U2MEJj672LcEEvk2DSAwW/tI7egtX10WttP1WJGuYqkd84q7Nve3UVTK8zjFctBz&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=Xrp37pHXVSbIk7q2dmvHtfn6o9MXkxKinZx8BQlt9ZF7XXrfQTCr3BQ/XXb2EToA&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=TM5gbeIw%2BOOxrXFMSW9ND9k6BUVM5qWlq/GjZM0phaLkFjulSPQgeFVpp5zyLvjM&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=bvs1rDSXDtg78SSgNv7UXXXMyzLAQJ0szeykmYuiqH%2BiPlkoAl79NOtY1Z/pHCag&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=lHEP1/VyWzxy0ZofOo95XVrKYyszWB9nAINZ93G06SkdmSD7v6BMiW4REgceqPgP&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=IVv3R/OWNB4dNUtEmtzym%2B05YL5g6TXgT5F/PsKZCjkDCbyE88%2BlwT7sFNP9aIYB&


 
 
 

03/10/2015 14:14    |Town of Brunswick |P      3
jhenze              |FEBRUARY 2015 REVENUE REPORT |glytdbud

 
 

FOR 2015 08
 

ORIGINAL REVISED ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL MTD REMAINING PCT
                                         ESTIM REV EST REV REVENUE REVENUE REVENUE COLL
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
152121 45104  False Alarm Fire        1,000       1,000         325.00            .00                        675.00   32.5%*
152121 45107  Fire Code Violation F            0           0         100.00            .00                       -100.00  100.0%*
152221 45100  Ordinance Fines          600         600       1,419.00         203.00                       -819.00  236.5%*
152221 45101  Parking Tickets       20,000      20,000      26,705.00       5,240.00                     -6,705.00  133.5%*
152221 45102  Leash Law Fines          600         600          50.00            .00                        550.00    8.3%*
152221 45105  False Alarm Police          300         300          10.00            .00                        290.00    3.3%*
152221 45106  Restitution            0           0       1,319.27            .00                     -1,319.27  100.0%*

 
TOTAL Fines & Penalties                28,750      28,750      35,753.27      10,518.00                     -7,003.27  124.4%

 
TOTAL REVENUES       28,750      28,750      35,753.27      10,518.00                     -7,003.27

 
60 Interest earned                    
_________________________________________

 
161193 46100  Interest Earned       40,000      40,000       6,017.18         860.76                     33,982.82   15.0%*

 
TOTAL Interest earned                  40,000      40,000       6,017.18         860.76                     33,982.82   15.0%

 
TOTAL REVENUES       40,000      40,000       6,017.18         860.76                     33,982.82

 
70 Donations                          
_________________________________________

 
171952 47000  BDC Contrib to Econ D       94,000      94,000      94,000.00      94,000.00                           .00  100.0%*
171952 47002  MRRA - MCOG DUES       15,000      15,000            .00            .00                     15,000.00     .0%*

 
TOTAL Donations                       109,000     109,000      94,000.00      94,000.00                     15,000.00   86.2%

 
TOTAL REVENUES      109,000     109,000      94,000.00      94,000.00                     15,000.00

 
80 Use of fund balance                
_________________________________________

 
181100 48000  Unapprop General Fund    1,000,000   1,200,000            .00            .00                  1,200,000.00     .0%*
181100 48001  Bal of State Revenue       50,000      50,000            .00            .00                     50,000.00     .0%*
184500 48003  Allocation for School      185,000     185,000            .00            .00                    185,000.00     .0%*
184500 48004  School Balance Forwar    2,810,000   2,810,000            .00            .00                  2,810,000.00     .0%*
184500 48005  Restricted-Sch Bond P      342,000     342,000            .00            .00                    342,000.00     .0%*

 
TOTAL Use of fund balance           4,387,000   4,587,000            .00            .00                  4,587,000.00     .0%

 
TOTAL REVENUES    4,387,000   4,587,000            .00            .00                  4,587,000.00

 
90 Other                              
_________________________________________

 
191111 49000  Finance Miscellaneous        1,000       1,000       2,301.30         170.00                     -1,301.30  230.1%*

 

/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=QTYBawWmlbrGZvoM6q0Xr1SiYCzdyECK%2BHT7c16hBYLeLN6BDH5BeWz/NZQX%2B8Kp&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=TiZL%2BlPQ89vykGbLmgQUTheXvWEe4ahcBsLRGfunx7AlOzmGtWDyq7F2fz2mx5p3&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=QPfuA5x8JUHESHmsnWmfBk9Ep3Jekc30Knkbv2p04WkbSvocorcFFsrHR0%2BkJ4wc&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=NzQKp4lJCb3r09xGugOunLsMrbi58cfIz6RB2hBTF0saWn8hzQkBiBEOdirRs%2BfT&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=W55hXHdY7Rvw6zCTJ/MnNlxlkcXmdxtmjVdLZ4eW8ylXSltgD6lsyq5bdhHygsNs&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=rLNnBaOSWvKGk//75hWgQv2izsiHSRPbDDechmMBPgm3DShj7Q5XT109dseUUHiQ&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=7C%2BtS4Yh8Bd6ww2lyxjIBq9uQ1/jkXkKK2gQYfFlLT69b4NFWXc6AW61vLGmxnc6&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=IVk1TUWwpQM3hBM77376hw2p0gLGodIm4zih7yc8VOixZU7mol4fZoTMZes5Qsi5&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=ndoOpPAUHH8h5ECOMIzXHtiKEXbNkoHl6chB%2BNW8APPfMIzEWCR/BpPoIv9i3/C0&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=SMg15rGfzjoeurqe5ERLmwu%2BiP7ylCHmMYghV81ohLK7R7ybQlNOFoIJQEuGJvKP&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=PR20JKL7JVqPlkzZmOuZlJlVzhOdKcPlJWW9Gu%2BUjRR/m3xcEFnw9143IFdrl2lv&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=URiUQaWMhsE0Kc39fBYzbD%2BfncF7UzYDvNM/LTXmclIWumipQZ3gWrHPPLp3YwJE&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=O/yLipOathOM7b4rl7Khy1916tTRGXdMaifPYqf9TglH/uE97B9zJZXeQo6RxrPB&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=tsDDDm7oIm9KgwPJUFGW%2BQsxzzZ05I1Evwu5epeq9JJVV5m4U4aQzUxln32zyA83&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=ciOfvUtImxHChWfYCLWM1k4mfM3VKs44SNG8txsaKlOAYqh/g7mYNCQMpzBqy6lY&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=X1c1cFfa5bFxCNymXOTY5D6RCkEkF6i1pCXgvdqFtf/UNOek2GNjTtxIvo9TuozB&


 
 
 

03/10/2015 14:14    |Town of Brunswick |P      4
jhenze              |FEBRUARY 2015 REVENUE REPORT |glytdbud

 
 

FOR 2015 08
 

ORIGINAL REVISED ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL MTD REMAINING PCT
                                         ESTIM REV EST REV REVENUE REVENUE REVENUE COLL
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
191111 49101  Workers Comp Dividend            0           0      16,160.00            .00                    -16,160.00  100.0%*
191111 49104  Property & Casualty D            0           0       9,267.00            .00                     -9,267.00  100.0%*
191111 49105  Postage & Handling            0           0       1,721.02         156.00                     -1,721.02  100.0%*
191111 49106  W/C Proceeds            0           0       5,570.08          78.81                     -5,570.08  100.0%*
191192 49100  Cable Television      225,000     225,000     122,988.13      61,341.95                    102,011.87   54.7%*
191194 49150  Gen Govt Asset Sales            0           0         150.00            .00                       -150.00  100.0%*
191611 49000  Town Clerk Miscellane        1,250       1,250         915.75          80.50                        334.25   73.3%*
191911 49000  Planning Miscellaneou          150         150         400.50           1.50                       -250.50  267.0%*
192121 49000  Fire Miscellaneous          800         800       1,024.52          47.00                       -224.52  128.1%*
192221 49000  Police Miscellaneous            0           0       2,957.74            .00                     -2,957.74  100.0%*
192294 49153  Police Vehicle Sales        8,000       8,000            .00            .00                      8,000.00     .0%*
193131 49000  Public Works Miscella            0           0         130.14            .00                       -130.14  100.0%*
194141 49103  General Assistance Re            0           0       1,323.54            .00                     -1,323.54  100.0%*
194545 49000  School Miscellaneous      118,000     118,000      60,040.05      19,539.90                     57,959.95   50.9%*
195051 49000  Recreation Miscellane            0           0       1,000.33            .00                     -1,000.33  100.0%*
199980 48100  General Fund Transfer      710,000     710,000     511,224.73            .00                    198,775.27   72.0%*

 
TOTAL Other                         1,064,200   1,064,200     737,174.83      81,415.66                    327,025.17   69.3%

 
TOTAL REVENUES    1,064,200   1,064,200     737,174.83      81,415.66                    327,025.17

 
GRAND TOTAL   58,099,543  58,299,543  48,415,350.01     697,802.58                  9,884,192.99   83.0%

 
                                           ** END OF REPORT - Generated by Julie Henze **                                           

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=0kRMWLoopi9vMa01gcOmNHvzAM9APbmIdSxgE5M72hUdrNYUPTcBrpJV3/A5alYV&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=s1HLG4UE9z1A8qITe3qKishzn5/kFzvbU4tPMIDrRVJpWH9z97hwKKCGh2WOYbK0&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=%2BlvHsLh4h6EL6yWTB7syeVeyK%2BSCvyjVJVuCtdqv%2BXkpUui0T7y3mq/MjjUOUEdv&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=0UxhlAK6nxape1qAjg4bZLm1YR5tzpTbL7rPiIv7Bxmh9gZuzjxVQq47D0wI0W32&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=oDT23uFAe2wIMCFfD8grQI3HFMZSqH1Ncgax78WuZhIKfLwSWwnNHrqc1mlojER5&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=mDLUt1j7hvVDhfVqsEXjWZXg6VJKLTtlrMJXsCm2DltGrvXyEudmS3J5MUeMZALJ&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=T6Rn1ge4kpnD%2BTaf9hdoPvGHBNz3/Xuw8bMFffIEnqedP6IWOKG1vNuf1pobu3x7&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=w0P0q38YXY//sPpYTtADAVU0ms8OAbE/tTnO2H9UjJ6kiYoSdCOaNEqKhkGYbZvE&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=TyEjK3101aS8dBRc3LSd%2Bz9%2BFb1ogEbEu7KdtjqMiQFV%2B32iHqYI3kRdLOSRIx7R&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=Fy7VH%2BXhvshbpXHmo24n8/n0OMud%2BphVPZhCTQzk%2BAJNH%2Buf4sk9TAfH9AFHdaMK&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=rzNmbUJbpIIYM28HOt%2BPldiSjB/zNPtwtJss5EO7PkU6FlRREZvzrTjYF5oGTQYu&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=tcqOmREn4umMhxvvx3igiuz9ZWn0F0SyBFGhe8tX2RC2aPQRuZ3jH5q/cWJZ1YYI&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=rxYv1LTfD7dFrO33QqI3Lu5xLYpLSGvID0WFNj3PQ3xEcV9ZjkNVcl3Jh7F4nwdO&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=8PAJDtUccXhPVgWujFdmy0ueABlpBAX6BdVkYBLCaLTcla1D0e8E%2BFcHUDDfGru0&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=MdT6ZqzHt2QvVVYzeZqJOcwetz3JXvCZkDvCmdkdiIWbJGLGaFeWnVZefkz76Stj&
/views/PassThru.aspx?-E=MXAE8rSc386b1cae10dWtChhzpn90uOnrXiKYGpOpoig14cmfdEeQrkrQmO%2BS2Zp&


 
 
 

03/10/2015 14:11    |Town of Brunswick |P      1
jhenze              |FEBRUARY 2015 EXPENDITURE REPORT |glytdbud

 
 

FOR 2015 08
 

ORIGINAL REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
                                            APPROP BUDGET YTD EXPENDED MTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
 

00 Fill                               
_________________________________________

 
19000 General Fund Transfers Out    1,147,860   1,147,860   1,147,860.00            .00            .00            .00  100.0%

 
TOTAL Fill                          1,147,860   1,147,860   1,147,860.00            .00            .00            .00  100.0%

 
 

10 General Government                 
_________________________________________

 
11000 Administration      489,397     489,397     354,948.93      51,263.60       3,461.10     130,986.97   73.2%
11100 Finance Department      715,425     715,425     423,135.85      48,942.23       1,020.00     291,269.15   59.3%
11150 Technology Services Dept      327,848     327,848     206,125.82      10,298.27      45,433.43      76,288.75   76.7%
11200 Municipal Officers       85,615      85,615      58,006.56      20,783.65       3,571.00      24,037.44   71.9%
11210 Munic Bldg - 85 Union      210,720     210,720     114,822.47      21,823.42       3,865.00      92,032.53   56.3%
11230 Risk Management      473,750     473,750     360,624.00        -107.72            .00     113,126.00   76.1%
11240 Employee benefits            0           0    -148,476.07     -13,525.33            .00     148,476.07  100.0%
11250 Cable TV       47,790      47,790      31,720.65       4,853.34            .00      16,069.35   66.4%
11300 Assessing      293,660     293,660     171,182.50      19,950.89       2,742.98     119,734.52   59.2%
11600 Town Clerk & Elections      362,077     365,477     225,488.37      24,709.99         400.00     139,588.63   61.8%
11900 Planning Department      490,779     510,504     314,227.83      37,756.91       7,658.28     188,617.90   63.1%
11950 Economic Development Dept      109,087     109,087      62,711.92       7,897.33            .00      46,375.08   57.5%

 
TOTAL General Government            3,606,148   3,629,273   2,174,518.83     234,646.58      68,151.79   1,386,602.39   61.8%

 
 

20 Public Safety                      
_________________________________________

 
12100 Fire Department    3,104,392   3,113,742   1,985,985.32     247,276.46      23,019.51   1,104,737.17   64.5%
12150 Central Fire Station       42,089      45,739      23,882.79       3,135.57       1,361.00      20,495.45   55.2%
12160 Emerson Fire Station       41,825      41,825      26,861.42       5,933.08       4,736.98      10,226.60   75.5%
12200 Police Department    3,762,478   3,762,478   2,324,548.20     277,281.84            .00   1,437,929.80   61.8%
12210 Police Special Detail            0           0      33,915.43       1,544.12            .00     -33,915.43  100.0%
12220 Emergency Services Dispatch      777,412     777,412     479,068.45      55,921.42            .00     298,343.55   61.6%
12250 Police Station Building       98,020      98,020      57,922.44       9,019.52         920.00      39,177.56   60.0%
12310 Streetlights      208,000     208,000     133,645.87      18,916.87            .00      74,354.13   64.3%
12320 Traffic Signals       31,600      31,600      12,338.63       4,048.88       6,000.00      13,261.37   58.0%
12330 Hydrants      438,790     438,790     225,698.85            .00            .00     213,091.15   51.4%
12340 Civil Emergency Preparedness        2,000       2,000       1,662.65         800.00            .00         337.35   83.1%

 
TOTAL Public Safety                 8,506,606   8,519,606   5,305,530.05     623,877.76      36,037.49   3,178,038.70   62.7%

 
 

30 Public Works                       
_________________________________________

 



 
 
 

03/10/2015 14:11    |Town of Brunswick |P      2
jhenze              |FEBRUARY 2015 EXPENDITURE REPORT |glytdbud

 
 

FOR 2015 08
 

ORIGINAL REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
30       Public Works                       APPROP BUDGET YTD EXPENDED MTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
 

13100 Public Works Administration      429,111     429,111     268,539.30      35,202.13            .00     160,571.70   62.6%
13110 PW General Maintenance    1,706,214   1,906,214   1,317,937.83     373,436.08      61,900.50     526,375.67   72.4%
13130 Refuse Collection      581,847     581,847     358,770.81      44,325.63     148,686.10      74,390.09   87.2%
13140 Recycling      297,729     297,729     176,676.84      24,230.93     119,174.60       1,877.56   99.4%
13150 PW Central Garage      741,300     751,500     536,777.72     107,446.73      37,073.77     177,648.51   76.4%

 
TOTAL Public Works                  3,756,201   3,966,401   2,658,702.50     584,641.50     366,834.97     940,863.53   76.3%

 
 

40 Human Services                     
_________________________________________

 
14100 General Assistance      163,607     163,607     111,461.82      10,683.54       2,501.47      49,643.71   69.7%
14120 Health & Social Services        2,766       2,766       1,645.98            .00            .00       1,120.02   59.5%

 
TOTAL Human Services                  166,373     166,373     113,107.80      10,683.54       2,501.47      50,763.73   69.5%

 
 

45 Education                          
_________________________________________

 
14500 School Department   35,763,587  35,763,587  19,760,311.54   2,588,756.45            .00  16,003,275.46   55.3%

 
TOTAL Education                    35,763,587  35,763,587  19,760,311.54   2,588,756.45            .00  16,003,275.46   55.3%

 
 

50 Recreation and Culture             
_________________________________________

 
15000 Recreation Administration      456,225     466,225     288,612.25      35,142.30       1,984.50     175,628.25   62.3%
15050 Rec Buildings and Grounds      678,434     678,434     407,539.17      55,693.22      10,861.66     260,033.17   61.7%
15250 Rec Building 211      160,327     160,327      90,224.66      11,513.45      12,608.08      57,494.26   64.1%
15300 Teen Center       15,000      15,000      15,000.00            .00            .00            .00  100.0%
15310 People Plus      115,000     115,000     110,000.00            .00            .00       5,000.00   95.7%
15400 Curtis Memorial Library    1,285,000   1,285,000     850,391.88     105,833.33            .00     434,608.12   66.2%

 
TOTAL Recreation and Culture        2,709,986   2,719,986   1,761,767.96     208,182.30      25,454.24     932,763.80   65.7%

 
 

60 Intergovernmental                  
_________________________________________

 
16000 County tax    1,333,350   1,333,350   1,333,350.00            .00            .00            .00  100.0%

 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

03/10/2015 14:11    |Town of Brunswick |P      3
jhenze              |FEBRUARY 2015 EXPENDITURE REPORT |glytdbud

 
 

FOR 2015 08
 

ORIGINAL REVISED AVAILABLE PCT
60       Intergovernmental                  APPROP BUDGET YTD EXPENDED MTD EXPENDED ENCUMBRANCES BUDGET USED
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 
TOTAL Intergovernmental             1,333,350   1,333,350   1,333,350.00            .00            .00            .00  100.0%

 
 

70 Unclassified                       
_________________________________________

 
17000 Promotion and Development      164,917     164,917     153,553.95      25,015.00            .00      11,363.05   93.1%
17010 Additional School Assistance       10,000      10,000      10,000.00      10,000.00            .00            .00  100.0%
17020 Cemetery Care        3,000       3,000       1,250.00            .00            .00       1,750.00   41.7%
17030 Wage Adjustment Account        9,000       9,000      30,000.00            .00            .00     -21,000.00  333.3%
17052 School Master Plan            0      14,527            .00            .00      14,526.97            .00  100.0%

 
TOTAL Unclassified                    186,917     201,444     194,803.95      35,015.00      14,526.97      -7,886.95  103.9%

 
 

80 Debt Service                       
_________________________________________

 
18020 2006 CIP G/O Bonds      252,000     252,000     228,000.00            .00            .00      24,000.00   90.5%
18030 2011 GO CIP Bonds      264,890     264,890     322,620.00            .00            .00     -57,730.00  121.8%
18040 Police Station Bond      405,625     405,625     341,687.51            .00            .00      63,937.49   84.2%
18050 2010 Elementary School Bond            0           0    -237,239.14            .00            .00     237,239.14  100.0%

 
TOTAL Debt Service                    922,515     922,515     655,068.37            .00            .00     267,446.63   71.0%

 
 

GRAND TOTAL   58,099,543  58,370,395  35,105,021.00   4,285,803.13     513,506.93  22,751,867.29   61.0%
 

                                           ** END OF REPORT - Generated by Julie Henze **                                           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - B 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



March 2015 
 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7

  
 
TC mtg 

   
3:30 FC 
Wkshp 

  

8 9 10 11 12 13 14
    

 
SB mtg 

 
3:30 FC 
Mtg - CIP 

  

15 16 17 18 19 20 21
  

TC mtg 
Deliver CIP 

   
 
 

  

22 23 24 25 26 27 28
    

SB wkshp 
Budget 

 
 

  

29 30 31  
 TC wkshp 

FC Pres 
CIP 

     

 

May 2015 
 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
    1 2

     Mgr deliv 
Proposed 
budget 

 
 
 

3 4 5 6 7 8 9
  

 
TC mtg 

   
TC wkshp 
Dept pres 

  

10 11 12 13 14 15 16
  

TC wkshp 
Sch pres 

  CIP & 
Budget 
P Hearing 

  

17 18 19 20 21 22 23
  

TC mtg 
Budget 

   
 
TC wkshp 

  

24 25 26 27 28 29 30
  TC 

Adopt 
Budg&CIP 

    

31    
       

 

April 2015 
 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
1 2 3 4 

       

5 6 7 8 9 10 11 
  

 
TC mtg 

  
 
SB mtg 

 
FC Mtg 

  

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 
   SB wkshp 

Prelim 
budget 

TC wkshp 
Mgr prelim 
budget & 
overview 

  

19 20 21 22 23 24 25 
       

26 27 28 29 30  
  

TC mtg 
Set PH 

 SB Public 
Forum 
Prop budg 

 
TC wkshp 
Dept pres 

  

 

June 2015 
 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
1 2 3 4 5 6 

 
 
 

 
 
TC mtg 

     

7 8 9 10 11 12 13 
  School 

Budget 
Referend. 

    

14 15 16 17 18 19 20 
  

 
TC mtg 

   
 
Fin Comm 

  

21 22 23 24 25 26 27 
 
 
 

      

28 29 30  
 
 
 

      

 

Vacation Week 



 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - C 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



S T A T E  O F  M A I N E  

DEP A R T MEN T  OF  EN VIR ON MEN T A L PR OT ECT ION  
 
 
 
 
 

 PAUL R. LEPAGE PATRICIA W. AHO 

 GOVERNOR COMMISSIONER 

AUGUSTA BANGOR PORTLAND PRESQUE ISLE 
17 STATE HOUSE STATION 106 HOGAN ROAD, SUITE 6 312 CANCO ROAD 1235 CENTRAL DRIVE, SKYWAY PARK 
AUGUSTA, MAINE 04333-0017 BANGOR, MAINE 04401 PORTLAND, MAINE 04103 PRESQUE ISLE, MAINE 04769 
(207) 287-7688 FAX: (207) 287-7826 (207) 941-4570 FAX: (207) 941-4584 (207) 822-6300 FAX: (207) 822-6303 (207) 764-0477 FAX: (207) 760-3143 

 

web site: www.maine.gov/dep  

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING  

 

Northern New England Passenger Rail Authority 

Storm Water Management Law Permit Application 

Brunswick, Cumberland County, Maine 

 

The Maine Department of Environmental Protection (Department) hereby gives notice that it will 

hold a public hearing on the application submitted by the Northern New England Passenger Rail 

Authority for a Storm Water Management law permit.  The permit application—Department 

Project #L-26119-NJ-C-N—is for the construction of a passenger train equipment layover 

facility located in Brunswick, Maine.   

 

The Department will conduct the public hearing in accordance with the provisions of the Maine 

Administrative Procedure Act (5 M.R.S.A. §§ 9051-9064) and the Department’s rules governing 

licensing and hearings (Chapters 2 and 3). 

 

The purpose of the hearing is to receive testimony from the parties and the general public on 

whether the proposed project meets the relevant statutory and regulatory licensing requirements.  

The statutory and regulatory criteria associated with the Department’s review of this license 

application are:  Storm Water Management law (38 M.R.S.A. § 420-D) and the Department’s 

rules concerning Stormwater Management (Chapter 500).  Testimony at the hearing is limited 

specifically to the criteria described in this notice (stormwater standards, including, but not 

limited to, basic, general, and flooding standards).  An outline describing the relevant regulatory 

review criteria associated with the proposed project is available on the Department’s website at 

www.maine.gov/dep/permits/blf in the document, “Second Procedural Order and attachments.”   

 

The hearing will be held on Wednesday, March 25, 2015 at 9:00 A.M. at the Brunswick Golf 

Club, 165 River Road, Brunswick, Maine.  The hearing is open to the public.  The daytime 

portion of the hearing will be devoted to receiving testimony from the parties (applicant and 

intervenors) in accordance with procedural orders issued by the Department.   

 

The evening portion of the hearing, beginning at 6:00 P.M., will be devoted to receiving 

testimony from members of the general public.  As with all testimony, public testimony is given 

under oath and is subject to cross-examination by the parties, and questions from the presiding 

officer, Department staff, and counsel for the Department.  Individuals who are affiliated with, 

but not an officer of, a party in this matter may testify at the evening session of the hearing in 

their personal capacity but not as part of the presentation of a party.     

 

Members of the public may submit written comments to the Department by mail to Bill Bullard, 

Project Manager, Maine Department of Environmental Protection, 312 Canco Road, Portland, 

Maine 04103; by email to Bill.Bullard@maine.gov; and by hand delivery to 312 Canco Road, 

mailto:Bill.Bullard@maine.gov


Notice of Public Hearing 

NNEPRA Storm Water Management Law Permit Application  

February 20, 2015 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 

Portland, Maine.  The Department will accept written comments from the public during the 

application review period from now through the date of the public hearing (March 25, 2015).    

 

The licensing file associated with the proposed project is available for public review by   

arrangement during normal business hours at the Department’s Southern Maine Regional Office 

located at 312 Canco Road in Portland, Maine.  Questions regarding the hearing or requests to 

examine the licensing file may be directed to Bill Bullard at the address described above or by 

telephone at (207) 615-3149. 

 

 

 

  

 



 
 

MANAGER’S REPORT - D 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



Local Legislators to Host Community Forum on Governor’s Proposed Budget 
 
 

AUGUSTA – The public is invited to attend a community forum to learn more about the 
governor’s proposed state budget and its impact on Maine residents, municipalities, businesses, 
and organizations. 
 
Senator Stan Gerzofsky, along with Representatives Ralph Tucker, Mattie Daughtry and Joyce 
McCreight, will host the event in an effort to hear from residents of Brunswick and Harpswell. 
 
“It’s important for us to hear from our constituents,” said Gerzofsky. “This budget contains 
proposals that will negatively affect the health and well-being of many of the people we 
represent.  We want to make sure they are aware of the potential impact of these proposals.”  
 
“We’re here to listen,” said McCreight. “Your feedback will help us pass a budget that is fair for 
all Maine people.” 
 
Governor Paul LePage submitted his state budget proposal at the beginning of the year and the 
Legislature’s Appropriations and Financial Affairs Committee is now reviewing the $6.5 billion 
document. After a thorough process of months of public hearings, public testimony, and work 
sessions, the budget-writing committee will provide its recommendation to the full Legislature 
for consideration. 
 
“The governor’s budget proposal contains a lot of policy changes that will impact all the people 
of Maine, especially property taxpayers,” said Tucker. “It is important to me that I hear your 
thoughts and concerns about these changes.” 
 
“It’s crucial that we get public input on the proposed budget,” added Daughtry. “It’s a large, 
complicated piece of legislation that could have far-reaching implications for our community.” 
 
The forum will be held in the Council Chamber at Brunswick Town Hall on Wednesday, March 
18th at 7:00 p.m. 
 
For more information, contact Senator Gerzofsky at (207) 287-1515 or stan1340@aol.com 
 
 
   

### 
 
 



 
 

MANAGER’S REPORT - E 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



 
March 12, 2015 
 
To:  Brunswick Town Council   
From:  Anna Breinich, FAICP  

John Eldridge, Town Manager 
Subject: Portland Metro North Express Bus Service Expansion Update  
 
On February 24th, we met with Greg Jordan, General Manager, Portland Metro and received an update on 
their 3-year pilot service expansion project providing express bus service ending in Freeport, with the 
potential to later expand to Brunswick.  Mr. Jordan provided the results of a recently completed 
generalized survey to gather public input on key service design issues for the proposed Freeport 
expansion, results attached.  A question was included indicating the responder’s interest in expanded 
service to Brunswick.  Of those who responded to the question, 72% believed adding Brunswick was of 
high or medium priority.   
 
Mr. Jordan indicated that additional state and/or federal funding may be available for an expansion to 
Brunswick, lowering the Town’s match considerably.  We are verifying availability of such funding at 
which time Mr. Jordan will then be prepared to provide a more accurate budget and estimate for local 
matching funds.  He suggested holding a workshop in late April should Town Council so desire to discuss 
potential expansion as well as, potential support by Brunswick stakeholders, community outreach, and the 
possibility to join into the pilot program in Year 2 (2016-17) to lessen our match. 
 
Attachments 
 

 
 

 
 

 
TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 

 

INCORPORATED 1739 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
85 UNION STREET, SUITE 216 

BRUNSWICK, ME  04011 
 

 
 

 

ANNA M. BREINICH, FAICP PHONE: 207-725-6660 
DIRECTOR OF PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT FAX: 207-725-6663 













 
 

 
ITEM 25 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 











 
 

 
ITEM 26 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 







3/11/2015

1

Public Meeting
December 10, 2014

Presented by:

Penobscot Environmental Consulting, Inc.

Bay Bridge 
Estates

Maplewood 
Manor

Captain William A. 
Fitzgerald USN 
Recreation & 

Conservation Area

Cooks 
Corner 

Intersection

Old Bath 
Road

Deerfield 
Drive

Project Site Location
Off Old Bath Road in East Brunswick 

Goldenrod 
Place



3/11/2015

2

Captain William 
A. Fitzgerald 

USN Recreation 
and 

Conservation 
Area

What We Will Cover

• Project History
• Master Plan Goals and 

Management Principles
• Natural and Ecological Resources
• Cultural and Historical Resources
• Recreation Planning
• Next Steps



3/11/2015

3

Project History

• 2002 Parks, Recreation & Open 
Space Plan

• 2004 Androscoggin to the 
Kennebec Bicycle Path Feasibility 
Study

• 2007 Application to Acquire 
Surplus Federal Property at BNAS

p. 16 
“Acquire from 
willing sellers…50 
+/- Acres of land in 
East Brunswick for a 
community park…” 

p.18
“This park could 
feature playing 
fields, basketball, 
tennis, playgrounds, 
and passive 
recreation.”



3/11/2015

4

p. 20 
“Development of the 
15 acre site would 
provide safe and 
convenient access to 
large numbers of 
children and adults 
who live in two of the 
three largest mobile 
home parks in 
Brunswick. Trail and 
bike path 
connections suitable 
for exercise and 
scenic enjoyment will 
also be created.” 

2007

p. 20 
“The majority of his 
land (approximately 50 
acres), would be left 
as conservation land .”

p. 31 
“One of the greatest 
needs is for an 
outdoor sports 
complex and the 67 
acre old transmitter  
site would work well 
for this.” 



3/11/2015

5

Project History

• April 2011 

 Town accepts constructive possession of the 
property

• May 2011

 Town Council names the property the 
Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN Recreation 
and Conservation Area after the last 
Commanding Officer to serve at BNAS  

Project History
• December 2011

 Town executes deed an takes ownership of 
the property

• Spring 2014 

 Prescribed burn conducted on half of the site

 MOHF grant obtained 

• June 2014 Wright-Pierce and Penobscot 
Environmental hired

• September, 2015 Master Plan Committee 
appointed



3/11/2015

6

Project History

Progress to Date

• Review of background reports

• Site walks conducted on
July 18th and August 25th, 2014



3/11/2015

7

Progress to Date

• Coordination with State agencies
• Master Plan Committee meetings in 

October and November 
• Preliminary management strategy 

and plan layout alternatives



3/11/2015

8

MOHF Grant Obligations

• Burn in Spring of 2015
• Create a resource based 

recreational master plan 
• On-site interpretive signs 

(scheduled for Spring/Summer of 
2015) 

• Create a loop trail on the site
• Publicize the prescribed burning



3/11/2015

9

• Ecological management

The Plan’s Management and 
Stewardship Vision

• Diverse trails and recreation facilities 

The Plan’s Management and 
Stewardship Vision



3/11/2015

10

• Educational signage 

The Plan’s Management and 
Stewardship Vision

Plan Purpose and Management 
Goals
To guide the management of the 
property in a manner that:
• Protects its natural resources in 

perpetuity
• Provides passive and active 

recreation opportunities, and 
• Provides educational opportunities



3/11/2015

11

Natural and Ecological 
Resources
• Overview
• Management priorities and 

recommendations



3/11/2015

12



3/11/2015

13

The Maine Natural Areas Program (MNAP) has classified and distinguished 104 different natural 
community types that collectively cover the state's landscape. These include such habitats as 
floodplain forests, coastal bogs, alpine summits, and many others.

• A natural community is an 
interacting assemblage of plants and 
animals, their physical environment, 
and the natural processes that affect 
them.

Natural Community



3/11/2015

14

The Maine Natural Areas Program (MNAP) has classified and distinguished 104 different natural 
community types that collectively cover the state's landscape. These include such habitats as 
floodplain forests, coastal bogs, alpine summits, and many others.

The Maine Natural Areas 
Program (MNAP) has 
classified and distinguished 
104 different natural 
community types that 
collectively cover the 
state's landscape. These 
include such habitats as 
floodplain forests, coastal 
bogs, alpine summits, and 
many others.

Maine Natural Communities

State Rarity Ranks
State Rarity Ranks are determined by the Maine Natural Areas Program.
S1 Critically imperiled in Maine because of extreme rarity (five or fewer occurrences or very few 
remaining individuals or acres) or because some aspect of its biology makes it especially 
vulnerable to extirpation from the State of Maine.
S2 Imperiled in Maine because of rarity (6‐20 occurrences or few remaining individuals or acres) 
or because of other factors making it vulnerable to further decline.
S3 Rare in Maine (20‐100 occurrences).
S4 Apparently secure in Maine.
S5 Demonstrably secure in Maine.
SH Known historically from the state, not verified in the past 20 years.
SX Apparently extirpated from the state, loss of last known occurrence has been documented.

• S1 Critically imperiled in Maine because of extreme rarity 
(five or fewer occurrences or very few remaining 
individuals or acres) or because some aspect of its biology 
makes it especially vulnerable to extirpation from the 
State of Maine.

• S2 Imperiled in Maine because of rarity (6-20 occurrences 
or few remaining individuals or acres) or because of other 
factors making it vulnerable to further decline.

• S3 Rare in Maine (20-100 occurrences).
• S4 Apparently secure in Maine.
• S5 Demonstrably secure in Maine.
• SH Known historically from the state, not verified in the 

past 20 years.
• SX Apparently extirpated from the state, loss of last 

known occurrence has been documented.

State Rarity Ranks



3/11/2015

15

The Maine Natural Areas Program (MNAP) has classified and distinguished 104 different natural 
community types that collectively cover the state's landscape. These include such habitats as 
floodplain forests, coastal bogs, alpine summits, and many others.

S1 Critically imperiled in Maine

Little Bluestem-Blueberry 
Sandplain Grassland

“The Plains stretch out in some directions a distance of three or four 
miles, and are mostly covered by a small, scrubby growth of pines…”

“Almost every year some portions of the Plains is burnt over…  at 
midsummer there is an immense crop of blueberries…”  

A.J. Tenney ‘Brunswick, A Sketch of the Town’ 1887



3/11/2015

16

Elements of this 
Rare Habitat

• State listed plant species
• State listed butterflies and moths
• More than 20 bird Species of 

Greatest Conservation Need
• Possibility of State listed reptile 

(Black Racer)

Why So Rare?



3/11/2015

17

Management Priorities and 
Recommendations
• Mechanically remove larger woody plants, but 

Pitch Pine will remain

Management Priorities and 
Recommendations
• Use prescribed burns on different schedules (4/5 

year rotation) to encourage a patchy mosaic

• Experiment with mowing in select areas 



3/11/2015

18

Management Priorities and 
Recommendations

• Continue to work with partners to 
reduce overall management costs 
and monitor outcomes

Management Priorities and 
Recommendations
• Capitalize on the educational 

potential of the site



3/11/2015

19

Cultural and Historical 
Resources
• Overview
• Management priorities and 

recommendations



3/11/2015

20

Cultural and Historical 
Resource Studies Completed
• 2004 Phase I archaeological surveys 

were completed by the Navy in 
2004/2005

Specific Resource Concerns

• Limited evidence of stone tool 
making

• Conveying cultural history
 Black history
 Racetrack use
 Controlled burning of the Brunswick 

Plains

• Legacy of Naval use



3/11/2015

21

Legacy of Naval Use

• Some buried 
coaxial cables 
and grounding 
wires are still in 
place 

• As-builts have 
been provided

Legacy of Naval Use



3/11/2015

22

Cultural and Historic Resource 
Management Recommendations
• Exchange archaeological site information 

with the Maine Historic Preservation 
Commission (MHPC – Maine’s SHPO) 

• Notify MHPC of all plans and before any 
site disturbance occurs. Develop protocols 
and procedures for any future ground 
disturbance. 

• Include the site in any future Heritage 
Districts or Historic Overlay Districts

Cultural and Historic Resource 
Management Partners



3/11/2015

23

Potential for Public Education

• Naval history
• Brunswick Black history
• Horse racing/equestrian history
• Controlled burning of the 

Brunswick Plains



3/11/2015

24

Recreation Planning

• Site Opportunities and Constraints
• Passive Recreation
• Active Recreation 
• Long Term Management and 

Stewardship
• Phasing

Site Overview

NATURAL COMMUNITY 
BOUNDARY



3/11/2015

25

15-Acre Envelope

NATURAL COMMUNITY 
BOUNDARY

Site Opportunities and 
Constraints



3/11/2015

26

Passive Recreation Components

Passive Recreation Components

• Biking and 
walking on a 
shared use 
path



3/11/2015

27

Passive Recreation Components

• Walking, wildlife 
photography, 
dog walking 

• Cross-country 
skiing & 
snowshoeing

• Trail use 
required May, 
June and July

Passive Recreation Components

• Blueberry 
harvesting



3/11/2015

28

Active Recreation Components

Active Recreation Components

• Two multi-use 
athletic fields



3/11/2015

29

Active Recreation Components

• Playground(s)

Active Recreation Components

• Concessions 
facility/  
restrooms 
building



3/11/2015

30

Active Recreation Components

• Parking

• Daytime use only

Uses Not Permitted

• Camping and campfires

• Selling things (outside of the 
authorized concession)

• Use of vehicles such as ATV’s, golf 
carts, dirt bikes, and snowmobiles

• Horseback riding

• Hunting



3/11/2015

31

Preliminary Site Concept 1

Preliminary Site Concept 1



3/11/2015

32

Preliminary Site Concept 2

Preliminary Site Concept 2



3/11/2015

33

Long-Term Management and 
Stewardship

• Administration and maintenance of 
active recreation components

• Maintenance of passive recreation 
components

• Monitoring and evaluation of users

• Monitoring and evaluation of 
ecological management program

Long-Term Management and 
Stewardship



3/11/2015

34

Potential Phasing

1. Walking trails and signage

2. Shared use path connection and 
access road with limited parking

3. Playgrounds

4. Field and parking development
with concession/restroom building

Potential Phasing



3/11/2015

35

Next Steps

• Master Plan Schedule and 
Approvals

• Ecological Management Schedule
• Roles and Responsibilities



3/11/2015

36

• Mid-January: Final meeting with committee 
to present and receive comment on the draft 
plan  

• Late January: Circulate final draft plan 
electronically to committee for final approval 

• Mid-February: Present final draft plan to 
Town Council

• Finalize Plan 

Master Plan Schedule



3/11/2015

37

• Council Approval 

• MHPC Review 

 Phase II Archaeological Survey

• IF&W Review 

 Endangered Species Survey

Approvals

• Brunswick Parks and Recreation 
Department

• Brunswick Recreation Commission

• Brunswick Conservation 
Commission

Roles and Responsibilities



3/11/2015

38



 

March 9, 2015 

 

Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and 

Conservation Area Management Plan           

 

Goals and Management Principles 

Management and Stewardship Vision 

The Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area has the potential to 

serve ecological, passive outdoor recreational, and active outdoor recreational functions that 

will enhance the quality of life for local residents and visitors.  The property has the potential to 

be managed to provide passive recreational and trail‐based uses and active recreational uses as 

well as to attain ecological goals.   

Signs and structures could impart 

a sense of appreciation for the 

resources shared and stewarded.  

Signs, publications, and any other 

forms of communication could 

welcome users and advocate 

respectful recreation practices 

throughout and low‐impact 

recreation practices on the 

conserved portion of the site.  

These materials could also 

educate users about the natural 

community and its management.  

Site improvements should be 

designed to meet evolving outdoor recreation demand and could be consistent with the Park’s 

character.  The Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area can be an 

active and passive recreation destination, with diverse trails and recreation facilities 

accommodating a range of different uses.  Multi‐use athletic fields and a playground could be 

available to the public during daylight hours, and a restroom/concession building could serve 

the public during athletic events.  A shared use path could connect the East Brunswick 

neighborhood to the future Androscoggin to the Kennebec Trail, while walking paths could be 

constructed to guide visitors through the site’s natural community, during all seasons.   

The site’s ecological management approach will be periodically re‐assessed to ensure that the 

goals of maintaining a shifting mosaic of appropriate plant age classes and species assemblages 

are being met.  Ecological management considerations will continue to be explored in 

cooperation with appropriate governmental and non‐governmental partners.  



 

 

2Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

The overarching vision of this plan is that the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and 

Conservation Area will become a cherished local and regional asset where visitors can 

experience well‐managed active and passive recreational facilities and learn about the Town’s 

ecological management of a rare natural community.   It will provide the East Brunswick 

neighborhood with a long‐needed recreational area, and will connect the local neighborhoods 

to the future regional Androscoggin to Kennebec Trail.        

 

Purpose 

The primary purpose of the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation 

Area  Recreation and Conservation Plan is to guide the management of the property in a manner 

that protects its natural resources in perpetuity, provides passive and active recreation 

opportunities, and provides educational opportunities. These goals and management principles 

are intended to direct future management of the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN Recreation 

and Conservation Area.  

 

Management Goals 

Management goals for the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area  
public benefit conveyance lands are to:  
 

 To protect and 

maintain the critically 

imperiled habitat of 

the Captain William A. 

Fitzgerald USN, 

Recreation and 

Conservation Area  in 

perpetuity;  

 Provide and manage 

passive recreation use, 

active recreation 

facilities, and trail 

resources on the 

Captain William A. 

Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area , for their recreational value to 

enhance the quality of life in the Greater Brunswick area, and, specifically, in East 

Brunswick.  

   



 

 

3Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and 

Conservation Area (formerly known as 66 Acre Parcel)  

How the 66 Acre Parcel became the Captain William A. Fitzgerald 

USN, Recreation and Conservation Area 

Captain William A.  Fitzgerald was named commanding officer of the former Brunswick Naval Air 

Station in 2009, and oversaw the base’s closing.    

 In April 2011, the Town accepted constructive possession of the property from the 

Department of the Interior 

 In May 2011, the Town Council named the property the Captain William A. Fitzgerald 

USN, Recreation and Conservation Area after the last Commanding Officer to serve at 

BNAS   

 In December 2011, the Town executed the deed and took ownership of the property    

 In September, 2014, the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and 

Conservation Area Master Plan Committee was appointed 

 

Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation 

Area Map 

Captain William 

Fitzgerald Site 



 

 

4Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

Site Overview  

Broken into two portions, the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation 

Area includes an access Road of 50’ by 2,000’ and a 64 acre parcel. Although totaling only sixty‐

six acres, the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area has a special 

and unique value. The setting is a combination of Little Bluestem ‐ Blueberry Sandplain 

Grassland and Pitch Pine Barren. Appearing to be common and unremarkable this area rests on 

an ecologically fragile setting yet has long a vibrant historic past.  

 

Cultural, Pre‐Historical and Historical Significance 

What today is the shore plain abutting Merrymeeting Bay has been the site of occupation for 

indigenous people from 11,000 years ago until colonial settlement. During the Paleoindian 

period littoral dune fields covered the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and 

Conservation Area. Changes in landscape and climate occurred through the Archaic and Ceramic 

phases and the region of Merrymeeting Bay’s north shore remained active.  

There is a prehistoric archaeological site on the property, referred to as number 15.402. The 

details of the site, specifically its boundaries on the property, are not known because of the 

reconnaissance nature of the initial archaeological survey done for the Navy. The town is now 

working with the Maine Historic Preservation Commission (MHPC) on the issue. 

Early colonial farmsteads of East Brunswick nestled along the New Meadows River with 

hinterlands that stretched back away from the shore. Later settlers established farms along the 

north shore of Merrymeeting Bay with their interior tracts reaching towards the New Meadows. 

The main portion of the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area is 

comprised of back reaches of lots 

from the New Meadows shore on 

the northeast and back reaches of 

lots from Merrymeeting Bay 

shore on the southwest. In early 

times these were the least used 

areas of the farms and held 

backcountry timber reserves.  

As overland transportation 

improved and population 

increased, change came to the 

64‐acre site. In the nineteenth 

century the parcel rested 

between the prominent Harding 

family’s trotting park to the south 

1938 Photo of the Simpson – Powers airstrip. Ground cover 

was removed exposing hard pack sand, ideal for many planes 

of the day.  Photo courtesy of Pejepscot Historical Society. 



 

 

5Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

and a vibrant interracial community with its store, church, and school that had developed by Bay 

Bridge (a 2,700 foot structure from Brunswick to Topsham) to the north. A short‐cut from the 

trolley line and state road (today’s Bath Road) to Bay Bridge was a diagonal path across today’s 

Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area. The area remained 

forested as late as 1920. Through the second quarter of the 20th Century, parcels were sold to 

individuals looking to harvest wood and later blueberries. Because it was regarded as low value 

agricultural land, frequent deed exchange occurred. The only structure to occupy the 64‐acre 

area during this period was a small house or camp situated on a tote road that ran diagonally 

between the former trotting park and the site of the former Bay Bridge. 

The 2.30 acres that make up the access road has a special history. Aptly named Lindbergh 

Crossing, this land was part of an early Brunswick airstrip. Located on the edge of the Powers 

and the Simpson farms it was an occasional fuel stop by aviator Charles Lindbergh on his flights 

to his wife’s family summer compound on North Haven. This was later abandoned as civil air 

operations moved to the Town Commons, the site of a municipal airport that later became 

Naval Air Station Brunswick. 

With the military reactivation of the Brunswick Naval Air Station in 1953 came a bustle of 

changes to the community. In 1957 the Navy sought to locate a radio transmitting/receiving 

operation off station. Seven contiguous parcels were purchased to accommodate the heart of 

the broadcast facility. The next year two imposing windowless cement buildings were 

constructed. The primary facility was a 25‐foot high single story, 7,270 square foot structure that 

housed the operation. The second, smaller building contained the backup generator. 

Initially set about the grounds were 11 sleeve antennas and 4 conical monopole antennas. A 

web of cables connected them. Each pole‐

mounted antenna had a large circular mesh of 

grounding wire laid below the surface. Antennas 

were tuned to different frequencies. The type of 

communication mission determined which 

combination of antennas would be used. As 

technology changed the sleeve antennas were 

replaced by rotatable periodic, high angle, and 

inverted cone antennas. The area was secured by 

chain‐link fencing. 

Other antenna arrays were constructed “on‐

station” west of the runways. By the late 1960’s 

communication operations were increasingly 

handled by that transmitting facility making the 

remote complex obsolete. The site was closed 

and the buildings mothballed.  

From the cessation of operations, despite military and civilian security patrols, vandalism 

became an issue. The remote location with its lack of visibility made it difficult to safeguard. In 

       Navy blueprint of sleeve antenna. 



 

 

6Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

1998, the Navy demolished the buildings and removed the fence, allowing civilian access. In 

December 2011, title to the 66‐acre site was transferred to the Town of Brunswick. 

Although relatively small in size and historically comprised of back county parcels, the Fitzgerald 

Recreation and Conservation Area has played a significant role in Brunswick’s past. The story of 

this place brings to life a segment of the history of the East Brunswick community. 

 

Natural and Ecological Resources   
The Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area is situated on sand 

deposits that were associated with braided stream and braided delta environments that formed 

following retreat of the last ice sheet approximately 12,000 years ago1.  During this time, part of 

the Androscoggin River flowed to Thomas Bay on the New Meadows River through channels 

beginning near The Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area and 

heading south through modern‐day Cooks Corner and Thomas Point Beach.  These deposits are 

typically located adjacent to larger sand deposits associated with marine deltas that are found 

throughout Brunswick, most visibly at the former Brunswick Naval Air Station. Today, the land 

sits on top of a broad aquifer with thin topsoils covering a deep layer of sand. 

These unique sand deposits are 

now associated with a rare 

natural community known as 

Little Bluestem‐Blueberry 

Sandplain Grassland2.  A natural 

community is an assemblage of 

interacting plants and animals 

and their common environment 

and includes all of the plants and 

animals in a particular physical 

setting as well as the setting 

itself.  The Maine Natural Areas 

Program ranks the rarity of 

natural communities and lists the 

Little Bluestem‐Blueberry Sandplain Grassland as an S1 community, meaning it is critically 

                                                            

1 Surficial Geologic Map of the Brunswick Quadrangle, Maine, by Thomas K. Weddle, Maine 

Geological Survey. 2001. 

2 Gawler, S. and A. Cutko. 2010. Natural Landscapes of Maine: A Guide to Natural Communities 

and Ecosystems.  Maine Natural Areas Program, Maine Department of Conservation, Augusta, 

Maine.  



 

 

7Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

imperiled in Maine because of extreme rarity (five or fewer occurrences or very few remaining 

individuals or acres) or because some aspect of its biology makes it especially vulnerable to 

extirpation. 

Grassland barrens were more 

common in southern Maine 

historically, but most sites that 

might have supported this 

community have either been 

developed or have transitioned to 

other types due to lack of fire.  

Fire, either due to natural causes 

or intentionally set by Native 

Americans, was a historically 

important aspect of this natural 

community and modern fire 

suppression has resulted in 

incursions by white pine and red 

oak.  Prescribed fire is used by The Nature Conservancy to manage grassland communities 

associated with the Kennebunk Plains Preserve and a similar system of management would be 

appropriate for the The Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area 

grasslands. 

Little Bluestem‐Blueberry Sandplain Grassland communities can include several rare plants, 

including clothed sedge, dry land sedge, northern blazing star, upright bindweed, and white‐

topped aster.  Nesting habitat for several rare ground nesting grassland birds also potentially 

occurs, including grasshopper sparrow, upland sandpiper, and short‐eared owl.  These open 

grasslands may also provide excellent habitat for a rare snake, the northern black racer.  Rare 

butterflies can include cobweb skippers, dusted skippers, and coral hairstreaks.  Few surveys for 

rare species, however, have been done on the The Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation 

and Conservation Area site, although the Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife has 

confirmed the presence of cobweb skippers.   

Due to its sandy soils, The Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area 

does not include wetlands, vernal pools, or other unique or regulated natural resources.  The 

Little Bluestem‐Blueberry Sandplain Grassland community, however, is of conservation concern 

to multiple State agencies and several non‐profit conservation organizations.  The site, with its 

easy access, also represents a unique educational opportunity for area schools as well as 

regional colleges and universities. 

In addition to incursions by white pine and red oak, The Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, 

Recreation and Conservation Area has also been colonized by several invasive plant species, 

including Japanese honeysuckle and Japanese knotweed.  At this time, invasive species are not 

yet abundant, which affords an opportunity to control or eradicate them before they become 

dominant on the site. 



 

 

8Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

The Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area, in addition to rare 

animals, is home to common animals that include white‐tailed deer and other game species.  

Any consideration of hunting on the property, however, should be mindful of the proximity of 

houses off of Old Bath Road and traffic on nearby U.S. Route One. 

 

Sandplain Grassland Extent (received from Maine Natural Areas 

Program July, 2014) 

 

   

Captain William 

Fitzgerald Site 

 
Sandplain 

Grassland 
Boundary 



 

 

9Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

Butterflies and Moths Observed on (Yellow) or near (Gray) the Site  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notable Grassland/Early Successional Species Documented at 

Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation 

Area  



 

 

10Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

Site Cleanup 

While it is believed that the Navy’s antennas were dismantled prior to 1986, the generator and 

transmitter buildings were demolished in 1998.  A paved driveway that had been constructed to 

provide access to the buildings located at the approximate center of the site is still present. 

The Finding of Suitability to Transfer (FOST) prepared by the Department of the Navy in 2010 

detailed the site’s condition at that time.  Exposed coaxial cables and grounding wires were cut 

at 6 to 12 inches below the ground surface and removed from thirteen locations during the 

site’s cleanup in July, 2010, however, buried cables and grounding wires are still present. The 

white circles on the figure below indicates locations where coaxial cable was known to have 

been removed, and the blue circle indicate areas where no cable was found. 

The site formerly contained an on‐site septic system and shallow well. During the 2010 cleanup, 

approximately 118 linear feet of 4‐inch diameter Class A transite pipe was uncovered between 

the former sump and the 

headwall. The waste was double‐

bagged and disposed as asbestos 

waste.  An area of approximately 

225 square feet was excavated to 

a maximum depth of 1.5 feet 

below ground surface, and the 

excavations were backfilled with 

clean native sand.  There is a 

possibility that additional asbestos 

containing materials may be 

present on the site and could be 

discovered during future site 

disturbance.  The deed 

transferring the property to the 

Town contains an asbestos‐

containing materials hazard 

disclosure and acknowledgement 

form that indicates that the Town 

has full responsibility for 

preventing future asbestos 

exposure on the site.    



 

 

11Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

A buried electrical line (direct burial cable) was once located 18 inches below the ground’s 

surface, connecting a utility pole in the southern corner of the property to the transmitter 

building, and may still be in place.  Figure B‐3 from the FOST (below) illustrates the locations of 

site features prior to their demolition and subsequent cleanup. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

12Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

Site Opportunities and Constraints for Recreational 

Development 

Site Opportunities and Constraints Summary Figure 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recreational Development Opportunities 

 Location in underserved East Brunswick 

 Public education and wildlife observation potential 

 Potential to connect a shared use path on the site to the future Androscoggin to the 

Kennebec Bike Path (to be located within the Route 1 right‐of‐way) 

 Well‐drained soils suitable for on‐site septic 

 Town sewer nearby on Deerfield Drive 

 Available on‐site water 

 Generally open land cover 

 Electricity potentially available from adjacent CMP corridor or nearby Goldenrod Place 

 Relatively level topography well‐suited to athletic fields 

 Potential to restore blueberry production for community enjoyment 

 

 

 Wooded 

Area 

 
Existing 

Paved 

Driveway 

  Existing 

Tracks 

Area Subject 

to Controlled 

Burn in 

Spring, 2014 

Existing 

Residences 



 

 

13Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

Recreational Development Constraints  

 Archaeological sensitivity and related restrictions 

 Presence of rare natural community  

 Potential presence of rare, threatened and endangered species  

 Potential for encountering buried asbestos containing materials (ACM) 

 Potential for encountering buried coaxial cables and grounding wires 

 The Town does not own all the land needed to make a shared use path connection 

between the parcel and the future Androscoggin to the Kennebec Bike Path in the Route 

1 right‐of‐way 

 Existing access road is in poor condition and would need to be upgraded 

 Development should take into account location of existing houses  

   



 

 

14Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

Management Priorities and Recommendations 

Natural Resources   

Following are suggested management recommendations intended to guide future 

recreational development and use of the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, 

Recreation and Conservation Area in a way that reduces impacts to the site’s existing 

ecological functions.     

Specific Natural Resource Concerns  

Managing the Little Bluestem‐Blueberry Sandplain Grassland Natural Community 

 Manage the natural community to provide a mix of habitats, including scattered pitch 

pine and patches of shrubs within a matrix of grasslands and blueberries 

 Manage the natural community primarily through the use of controlled burns 

o Coordinate controlled burns with 

the Maine Forest Service, The 

Nature Conservancy, the Brunswick 

Parks and Recreation Department 

and the Brunswick Conservation 

Commission, the Brunswick Fire 

Department, the Brunswick Police 

Department and MaineDOT 

o Don’t burn the entire area at once to ensure refuges for plants and animals in 

unburned areas 

o Burn when fuel loads are adequate to maintain desired fire conditions 

o Monitor post‐burn responses in the plant community and use this information 

to plan future controlled burns 

o Development of the site should consider fire management logistics, based on 

recommendations from the Brunswick Fire Department, Maine Forest Service, 

and The Nature Conservancy, including vehicle access and sources of water 

 Remove trees not associated with the natural community type, including white pine, 

gray birch and red oak, primarily through low‐impact logging when economically 

feasible 

o Coordinate logging and other land‐disturbing activities with the Maine Historic 

Preservation Commission 

 

Habitat for Rare, Threatened, or Endangered Species or Species of Special Concern 

 Permit applications for any proposed development will require surveys for rare, 

threatened, or endangered species using inventory methods approved by the Maine 

Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife and the Maine Natural Areas Program 



 

 

15Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

 Surveys will be seasonally‐dependent and most will be conducted during the summer 

growing season 

 Volunteers may be interested in conducting surveys, potentially under the oversight of 

the Brunswick Conservation Commission 

 Surveys could potentially be conducted by academic institutions, such as Bowdoin 

College, for educational or research purposes 

 The Brunswick Conservation Commission, working in cooperation with the Maine 

Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife and the Maine Natural Areas Program, 

could maintain a list of potential rare, threatened, or endangered species and species of 

special concern 

 

Habitat for Breeding Birds 

 The site’s popularity as a birding destination is rapidly 

growing due to ease of access and unique breeding 

birds associated with the grassland community 

 A list of known breeding birds should be developed 

and made available to interested birders 

 The Town of Brunswick could publicize the site as a 

birding destination on Town websites 

 Local groups may be interested in organizing and 

leading annual birding trips to the site 

 Breeding birds are sensitive to intensive human activities during the nesting season, 

particularly if the activity generates significant noise (e.g., ATV use), and recreational use 

planning should consider limits on certain activities 

 

Invasive Species Management  

 Invasive species are known to occur, but have not been formally inventoried 

 The location of invasive species should be monitored on an annual basis 

 The Town of Brunswick should develop an invasive species control best management 

practices document to guide eradication or control efforts 

 Invasive species control measures should be a short‐term priority to avoid further 

establishment  

Natural Resource Management Partners 

The following are governmental and non‐governmental partners and their roles with respect to 

management of the natural community present on the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, 

Recreation and Conservation Area. 

 The Brunswick Parks and Recreation Department: As the department tasked with 

overseeing the site and administering funds related to property management, this 

department is a key partner.  Its responsibilities include coordination of site 



 

 

16Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

management activities, including coordinating controlled burns with management 

partners. 

 Brunswick Conservation Commission: Oversight of plan implementation regarding 

natural resources; conduct or supervise inventories for rare, threatened, or endangered 

species, species of special concern, or invasive species; oversee invasive species 

eradication or control efforts. 

 Brunswick Fire Department: Expertise regarding planning and execution of controlled 

burns. 

 Maine Forest Service:  Expertise regarding planning and 

execution of controlled burns. 

 The Nature Conservancy:  Expertise regarding planning 

and execution of controlled burns.  

 Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife:  The 

Department has conducted surveys for rare butterflies and may 

conduct future inventories for rare, threatened, or endangered 

species or species of special concern; the Department would also 

specify survey methodologies to use for rare species in support of any development 

permit applications. 

 Maine Natural Areas Program:  The Maine Natural Areas Program 

has conducted limited surveys for rare plants and may conduct 

future inventories for rare, threatened, or endangered plants; the 

Program would also specify survey methodologies to use for rare 

plants in support of any development permit applications. 

 Bowdoin College:  Potential partner for rare species inventories. 

Pertinent Natural Resource Regulations  

The Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area is located in 

Brunswick’s Country Residential 2/Old Bath Road zoning district and is, therefore subject to the 

Town’s Zoning Ordinance.  It is not located within an aquifer protection zone.  

Due to the lack of wetlands, vernal pools, Significant Wildlife Habitat, or Essential Wildlife 

Habitat, Maine’s Natural Resource Protection Act likely does not apply.  That said, prior to any 

development activity proposed impact areas should be screened again for any State‐regulated 

natural resources as conditions may change.  Given the lack of wetlands and vernal pools, the 

Clean Water Act, as administered by the US Army Corps of Engineers also does not apply to the 

site. 

Developments of a certain size and type are potentially regulated by Maine’s Site Location of 

Development Act, which is administered by the Maine Department of Environmental Protection.  

Applications for Site Location of Development permits must include descriptions of rare, 

threatened or endangered species, species of special concern, general wildlife habitats, and rare 

or exemplary natural communities. Because of the complexity of Site Law, the site’s history of 

development, and its natural resources, it is recommended that a pre‐application meeting be 



 

 

17Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

held with Maine DEP IF&W and the Maine Natural Areas Program once the project reaches the 

design development stage.  Generally speaking, projects that involve 3 Acres of disturbed non‐

re‐vegetated or development encompassing greater than 20 Acres would typically require a Site 

Location of Development Permit.  

If the project results in one acre or more of impervious area, or 5 acres or more of developed 

area, Stormwater Permit will be required. If development results in less than 1 acre of additional 

impervious area, or less than 5 acres of additional developed area, the project would potentially 

be eligible for a Stormwater Permit by Rule.  

This project will also require Brunswick Planning Board approval as a major development 

project. To obtain approval, any proposed plan for the site will need to meet the Brunswick 

Zoning Ordinance’s development review standard 411.10, Aesthetic, Cultural and Natural 

Values, which states: 

The proposed development will not have an undue adverse effect on the scenic or natural 

beauty of the area, historic sites, significant wildlife habitats identified by the Maine 

Department of Environmental Protection or by the Town Of Brunswick, or rare and 

irreplaceable natural areas or any public rights for physical or visual access to the shoreline. 

Cultural, Pre‐Historical and Historical Resources 

The following are recommendations for the management of the cultural, pre‐historical, and 

historical resources present on the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and 

Conservation Area:  

 Exchange archaeological site information with the Maine Historic Preservation 

Commission (MHPC – Maine’s SHPO).  

 Notify MHPC of all plans and before any site disturbance occurs. Develop protocols and 

procedures for any future ground disturbance.  

 Include the site in any future Heritage Districts, Historic Overlay Districts, or 

Archaeological Overlay Districts, as referenced elsewhere in this plan. 

 Develop a test plan to determine the extent and significance of archaeological assets. A 

Phase II archaeological survey will be needed before construction occurs in any area that 

has not been previously disturbed, by which the SHPO generally means “paved”, unless 

MHPC determines otherwise.  Areas of the site that were subject to underground 

disturbance as a result of the Navy’s use of the land, but which are not paved, are not 

considered by the SHPO to have been previously disturbed.  

 Establish “No Ground Disturbance” and “No Removal of Debris” policies as components 

of the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area  

management plan. Post appropriate signage for guests. 

 Limit earth movement and the use of large machinery when conducting forest 

management and prescribed burning activities. 

 Reduce ground disturbance when constructing trails and other site features. If 

warranted by further archaeological survey, trails should be constructed over a layer of 



 

 

18Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

geotextile fabric, and athletic fields should be constructed on imported fill material over 

geotextile fabric.  It is unlikely that geotextile fabric will be necessary underneath all 

new constructions.    

Education 

Potential subjects for interpretive signage include the following:  

Potential Natural Resource Education Topics 

 The natural community concept 

 The conservation of rare, threatened and endangered species 

 The little bluestem – blueberry sandplain grassland community type 

 The role of fire in managing natural communities and in the natural environment 

Potential Cultural, Pre‐Historical, and Historical Resource 

Education Topics 

 Naval history and the site’s prior use by the Navy 

 Brunswick Black history  

 Horse racing/equestrian history 

 The history, management and use of the Brunswick Plains 

 Aviation history 

Recreational Development 

Site Context and Recreational Development Components 

 

The conceptual site plan presented in this section meets the Town’s requirement to make 

progress toward the development of a recreational facility, as described in the Town’s 

application to acquire the property from the U.S. Department of the Interior.  This plan 



 

 

19Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

represents a conceptual level design effort, for planning purposes only, to help the Town 

understand how such facilities might be constructed on the site and how construction might be 

phased over time.  It is accompanied by a planning‐level cost estimate for the Town’s use in 

future budgeting exercises and discussions regarding prioritization of recreational facility 

development within the Town.   

Based on previous Town planning efforts and the Town’s statements in its application to acquire 

the land from the U.S. Department of the Interior, the following components would be 

considered to be potential parts of the site’s recreational development and are discussed at 

greater length in this section:  

 Up to 15 acres of the site could be developed for active recreation, which could include 

two multi‐use athletic fields and one or more playground areas  

 Walking trails, including an interpretive loop trail,  could be developed to provide access 

to the natural community 

 Bicycle and pedestrian access could be provided to the site from Old Bath Road 

 A shared use path could traverse the site and connect to the future Androscoggin to the 

Kennebec Bike Path  

Site Access Improvements 

The existing access to the site on Lindbergh Crossing consists of an approximately 20’ wide 

asphalt drive on a raised berm, with a slight crown.  For approximately 1,900 linear feet, 

between Old Bath Road and the 64 Acre portion of the parcel, the access drive is roughly 

centered within Town property lines that are 50’‐0”apart, with privately owned properties on 

both sides.  The existing pavement is cracked, and has been encroached upon by vegetation 

over the years.  

Stormwater currently runs off the access drive onto adjacent properties, or into the wooded 

portion of the site. It is assumed that, because of the area’s well‐draining soils and level 

topography, stormwater infiltrates the ground relatively quickly, and that a closed stormwater 

conveyance system will not be needed.   An existing storm drain system is in place along Old 

Bath Road, which could potentially be connected into, if necessary.  Any future construction 

should not disrupt the function of any existing storm drains in the area.  



 

 

20Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

As a short‐term interim measure, while use remains limited and before any structures are 

constructed, it is recommended that the existing gate at the treeline, which is poorly 

functioning, be replaced with a new swing gate spanning the width of the driveway. Two 20’ 

sections of chain link fence, guardrail, or strategically placed boulders are recommended to 

discourage vehicles from circumventing the gate.   The Town’s Fire Chief has recommended that 

in the short‐term, a rudimentary turnaround be constructed to allow an ambulance or smaller 

rescue vehicle to turn around, should an emergency arise.   The turnaround would have an 

approximate dimension of 20’ long by 46’ wide, or as wide as feasible given the existing 50’ 

width between the Town’s property lines.  The turnaround would be constructed by adding 

gravel shoulders to the existing driveway, as illustrated in this section.   

 

It is the Fire Chief’s opinion that, although not strictly adhering to Town code, the above 

approach would suffice until such time as the site is more intensely developed. The interim 

turnaround should be clearly signed to discourage parking.  In the vicinity of the gate, four 

parallel parking spaces could be constructed as a short‐ term measure, one of which should be a 

designated handicapped space.   Like the turnaround, these spaces would be constructed 

adjacent to the existing driveway, and made of a gravel paving material.  For four parallel 

parking spaces, a width of 8’ and a length of 88’ is recommended. Site reconnaissance or a 

topographic survey would be needed to fully assess the feasibility of this interim proposal.  

To provide more visibility for the site, a sign identifying the park could be placed near Old Bath 

Road.  It is also recommended that, in the short term, a sign with park rules and regulations be 

posted near the gate.  



 

 

21Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

To address access concerns that were expressed at a public meeting held in December of 2014, 

the driveway could be rebuilt and widened, and a separated pedestrian route constructed, as 

part of a future phase of site redevelopment.  To accomplish this, it would be recommended 

that the access drive be widened to accommodate two 12’‐0” wide lanes, with a 5’‐0” sidewalk 

on one side. The driveway would have an asphalt surface and be crowned with a 2% pitch. The 

sidewalk could have an asphalt or stone dust surface, and would also be sloped at 2%, away 

from the roadway.   

 

The sidewalk would be separated from the traffic associated with the driveway by a 3’‐0” wide 

grassed esplanade.   The esplanade would require periodic maintenance and trimming. The 3’‐0” 

vegetated esplanade could be seeded with native forbs (wildflowers) and grasses and mown or 

“weed whacked” at least 2x/year.  

Although traffic will be busy during athletic events, it is anticipated that, during the majority of 

the time, the driveway will receive relatively low use.  A typical shared use path would have a 

width of 10’, and would cost double what it costs to construct the sidewalk, as well as 

contributing twice the impervious surface.   For this reason, it is anticipated that bicycles would 

use the reconstructed access road, while pedestrians would use the sidewalk.  

According to Appendix II: Street Standards of the Town of Brunswick’s Zoning Ordinance (last 

revision effective August 6th, 2014), the proposed roadway generally meets the standards for 

Town Dedication of a Minor Road. Under the standards for an uncurbed Minor Road, however, 

the pavement width could be as narrow as 20’‐0”, and a 4’‐0” shoulder would be required.  

These modifications could be made to the proposed cross section, above, if desired, without 



 

 

22Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

changing the proposed footprint of the roadway.  Furthermore, the Town Standards stipulate 

that the maximum length of a dead‐end street is 1,500 feet, which this roadway would 

necessarily exceed.  The minimum curbed radius for a Minor Road is 25’‐0” and the minimum 

property line radius is 20’‐0”.   

A center island cul‐de‐sac or hammerhead T is required by the Town’s Zoning Ordinance at the 

end of dead‐end roads.  The center island cul‐de‐sac would need a minimum island radius of 35 

feet and a minimum outside pavement radius of 55 feet.  A turnaround that meets these 

standards would be provided when the future phase of access improvements are constructed.  

Passive Recreation Development 

Passive recreation refers to activities that are unscheduled, un‐programmed, and that require 

no administration or coordination.  Passive recreation components included in this plan are:  

Biking  and  Walking  on a  Shared  Use  Path 

A shared use path (sometimes referred to as a 

multi‐use trail) is designed for use by 

pedestrians and bicyclists.  A typical minimum 

width is 10’‐0”, except in cases where use is 

expected to be limited.  A local example of a 

shared use path is the Androscoggin River 

Bicycle Path, pictured at left.  Because a 

shared use path traversing the Captain 

William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and 

Conservation Area would not be expected to 

receive the heavy volume of use seen by the 

Androscoggin River Bicycle Path, a 10’‐0” width, without striping to separate pedestrian and 

bicycle zones is recommended.  

The design of the shared use path 

should meet the standards set forth 

in AASHTO’s 2012 Guide for the 

Development of Bicycle Facilities, 

Fourth Edition, or subsequent 

updates.  The surface of the path 

could be asphalt or stone dust (left), 

depending on the Town’s ability to 

provide long‐term maintenance, 

and the costs associated with each 

material.  In general, stone dust 

requires more maintenance, but is a 

less costly alternative.  Based on conversations with the Maine Historic Preservation 

Commission that indicate the importance of reducing ground disturbance on the site, it is 



 

 

23Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

recommended that the shared use path be constructed above the existing ground surface, 

except where it coincides with the existing access drive.  It is anticipated that the entire shared 

use path will meet ADA standards for accessibility.      

To complete the portion of the shared use path that connects to the Route 1 right‐of‐way and 

the future Androscoggin to the Kennebec Bicycle Path, an easement will be needed over private 

land.  Based on preliminary discussions with CMP, it might be possible to obtain a trail easement 

to make the connection, but CMP will need to see the proposed design before making a 

decision.   

Walking  Trails 

Trails will be provided for walking, wildlife photography, and dog walking.  Winter uses such as 

cross‐country skiing & snowshoeing will be permitted, but it is not anticipated at this time that 

trails will be groomed in the winter.  

Walking trails that are 

part of the official trail 

network on the site will, 

by and large, follow the 

footprint of existing 

trails and ATV tracks.  In 

a few locations where 

the existing perimeter 

trail crosses the 

property line, for 

example, on the Crooker 

and CMP properties 

near the site’s southern 

corner, either a new 

trail will be constructed 

to complete the perimeter loop and signage will be posted to alert trail users not to trespass on 

private property, or easements will be sought form the respective landowners to continue use 

of the existing trails. It would be worthwhile to hold discussions with Crooker and CMP to begin 

a conversation about the feasibility of acquiring trail easements as a preferred alternative, with 

construction of new trails as a fallback position.  

In most locations, where an ADA accessible trail is not required, the existing sand surface would 

provide a reasonable treadway, and it seems reasonable to assume that the ground has already 

been disturbed in those locations.  However, based on conversations with the Maine Historic 

Preservation Commission that indicate the importance of reducing ground disturbance on the 

site, trails deviating from existing trail locations where a Phase II archaeological survey has not 

been conducted, would need to be constructed above the existing ground surface on top of a 

layer of geotextile fabric (see illustration above).  By building on top of the existing ground 

surface, the potential for disturbing any artifacts that might be present will be reduced.  



 

 

24Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

The schematic illustration provided in this section assumes a stone dust surface, which is stable, 

firm, and meets ADA standards for a trail surface.  If the trail is constructed with a 4’‐0” wide 

treadway, as shown, there will need to be a 5’‐0” by 5’‐0” passing space constructed every 200 

feet to make the trails fully ADA compliant.  In addition to any new trails that must be 

constructed above grade to avoid disturbing the ground surface, this schematic detail could also 

be used to develop the trails that, together with the future shared use path, comprise a 

recommended, short ADA compliant trail loop for the elderly, the disabled, and small children.  

An ADA loop trail should be located close enough to parking that it is truly accessible.  Signage 

could be placed along the trail that interprets the site’s natural environment.   

 

Other trail surfacing options exist which may meet ADA’s “firm and stable” requirement at lower 

cost.  For example, stabilized engineered wood fiber (SEWF), treats the top layer of an 

engineered wood fiber trail with a urethane binder or an acrylic/ polyvinyl‐acetate polymer 

emulsion that stabilizes the surface, and at a lower cost than a stone dust trail.   Site amenities 

such as benches, kiosks and wayfinding signage should be considered for implementation with 

the initial walking trail network.  

Blueberry Harvesting 

Other than the provision of walking trails, no special design accommodation will be made for 

blueberry harvesting.   

Active Recreation Development 

Active recreation refers to activities that require scheduling, organization, and coordination.  

Active recreation components included in this plan are:  



 

 

25Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

Two  Multi‐Use  Athletic  Fields 

The multi‐use athletic fields 

included in this plan could be sized 

to accommodate lacrosse, soccer 

and football.  The overall 

dimensions of each play surface 

measure 225 feet by 360 feet.  A 

minimum buffer zone to provide 

safety clearances for football 

would add another 6 feet on all 

sides of the field, whereas, for 

soccer, a safety buffer of 10 feet is 

recommended on all sides.   For 

the purpose of developing this concept plan, a roughly 40 foot offset was provided around each 

playing surface, which allows for safety clearances, as well as space for bleachers, spectator 

circulation and surface drainage.  

The soils on the site are exceptionally sandy.  Because they are so well‐draining, they will need 

to be amended with imported organic matter to support a healthy growth of turf.  They will also 

need to be irrigated.  An on‐site well will be developed that can provide irrigation water for the 

fields.  Depending on the outcome of the Phase II Archeological Survey and input from the 

Maine Historic Preservation Commission, it may be necessary to construct the fields and 

associated irrigation systems above the existing ground surface.  Because the site falls away 

from the existing access roadway, this is not anticipated to pose an insuperable problem, but it 

might raise the cost of the project compared to building in a more conventional manner.       

A central question is whether the long axis of the fields should be oriented N‐S, which is 

generally considered to be the optimum orientation for soccer.  The purpose of this orientation 

is to keep players from squinting into the sun.  According to the Illinois Outdoor Recreation 

Guide, if soccer play occurs in spring, summer, and fall, it is preferable to orient the length of the 

soccer field along a north‐south axis.  If soccer play primarily occurs in fall, it is preferable to 

orient the length of the soccer field along a northwest‐southeast axis.  The most space‐efficient 

layout of the fields for this site, due to the alignment of the property’s boundary line, is with the 

fields’ long axis oriented northeast‐southwest.  

Conceptual site plans illustrating both field orientations are included for comparison on the 

following page.  The advantage of orienting the fields NE‐SW, parallel to the site’s property lines, 

is that the active recreational development program for the site can be accommodated more 

efficiently, with the potential to further reduce the development footprint to something less 

than 15 Acres. 



 

 

26Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

  

 



 

 

27Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

Playgrounds 

There is a growing body of research pointing to the desirability of including both play 

equipment, which is designed to promote children’s gross motor skill development, as well as 

natural, or imaginative play, which fosters fine motor use, sensory stimulation, and imaginative 

play, into play areas designed for children.  This plan recommends that a combination of both 

traditional play structures and natural play elements be incorporated into the site’s 

development.  It will be important to involve the local community in selecting play equipment 

and designing natural play areas that best meet the neighborhood’s needs as the time 

approaches for installation.   

Without discounts, a 

medium‐sized play structure, 

accommodating 50‐60 

children, can be quite costly, 

on the order of $40,000.  Play 

equipment placement must 

take into account required 

clear zones.  A safety surface 

made of a material such as 

engineered wood fiber, on 

the lower end of the cost 

spectrum, or poured‐ in‐place rubber, on the higher end, is required.  

Natural play areas can make use of locally available materials to provide inspired settings for 

exploration and imaginative play.  Logs felled on site can be used for seating and climbing.   

Boulders, movable stump seats, and other imagination props such as abandoned boats or other 

salvaged and repurposed vehicles can 

inspire creative play.  The incorporation 

of sand as a floor surfacing material; the 

ephemeral presence of water in the form 

of rain gardens; and the use of 

multilayered tree, shrub, and perennial 

plantings allow children the opportunity 

for sensory stimulation.  In a way that is 

not always available or allowed in a more 

structured setting, children can interact 

with and have an effect on the 

environment within designated play 

spaces.  

For the purpose of this plan, three tot bouncers, a two‐bay swingset, and a play structure for 50‐

60 children aged 5‐12, along with safety surfaces, as well as a natural play area, have been 

assumed.  The specific locations and arrangement of these play features would be determined 

in the next phase of design.  



 

 

28Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

Parking Lot 

The concept plan for the site’s recreational development incorporates 140 parking spaces.  

Starting with an initial working assumption of 40 spaces per playing field derived from another 

Town recreation facility, Town staff requested that parking be increased to avoid the congestion 

that occurs as teams are switching out between games, such as is experienced at other similar 

facilities in Brunswick.  Because of the great need for athletic field space in the Town, it will not 

be possible to adjust scheduling to address this issue.  It is felt that somewhere in the order of 

60 to 70 parking spaces per field should be sufficient to prevent cars from spilling onto adjacent 

access drives and roadways at the most crowded times.  

Chapter 5 of the Town of Brunswick’s Zoning Ordinance (last revision effective August 6th, 2014) 

requires that parking lots larger than 30 spaces be divided into separate areas with planted 

islands, pedestrian and bicycle areas, or buildings.  These planted islands might, depending on 

the site’s suitability, be designed as bioretention areas to treat and infiltrate stormwater runoff.  

This will need to be taken into account when the design progresses. Parking would ideally allow 

a smooth distribution of players from vehicles to athletic fields at peak times, with clearly 

designated pedestrian circulation routes.  Preferably, parking would be sited to reduce the 

effect of noise from vehicles on the site’s wildlife and on neighboring residences.    

Concession and  Restroom  Building 

Because a concession and restroom 

facility can be costly, it is recommended 

that the Town consider a pre‐fabricated 

structure.  Several finishes and 

configurations are commercially 

available, including wood, concrete, and 

masonry.  Before the cost of utilities is 

factored in, a combined concession, 

restroom and storage building, such as 

the one pictured at left, could cost 

between $75,000 and $125,000 

including installation, and would likely have a footprint similar to 25’ by 32’, including a covered 

waiting area for concession customers.   

Members of the Master Plan Committee have expressed an interest in a structure that would 

serve the additional purpose of containing indoor interpretive displays.  Although not out of the 

question, it is worth noting that such a structure would likely involve a custom design and 

additional expense.   

As the final plan is in development, it is recommended that stakeholder and neighbor input be 

sought regarding the overall aesthetics of the park, including the desired style of the restroom 

and concession building.   The final location of the concession building should be convenient to 

both athletic fields.  

                                               Photo: Romtec.com



 

 

29Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

Signage   

The signage recommended for this facility generally falls 

into three categories.  

Interpretive signage conveys information about a natural 

or cultural characteristic of a site. Potential educational 

topics for interpretive signage have been addressed 

elsewhere in this plan.  An interpretive sign panel should 

be resistant to weathering by the elements, and firmly 

attached to the ground, a building, or a kiosk.  A typical 

dimension is 2’ x 3’, though sizes may vary.  An allowance 

should be made for the time and effort needed to select 

sign content and design the sign panel graphic.   

Identification signage would typically contain the name of the park, and possibly also park 

hours.  Text would be sized so as to be visible to passers‐by.  Many styles and options are 

available, and there are a number of local sign shops capable of designing and producing a park 

sign for this type of facility.   

Finally, signs outlining park rules and hours should be 

posted at the park entrance and, possibly also within a 

kiosk inside the park. The signs should clearly state that 

the park will be a dawn to dusk facility, as well as other 

park rules, and should also make clear uses that are 

allowed/not allowed. 

 

 

Design, Permitting, and Construction Cost Estimates with 

Potential Phasing  

Conceptual planning‐level cost estimates have been provided for the Town’s use in thinking 

through a phased sequence of site improvements.   The costs below have been grouped into 

discrete phases of site development, beginning with immediate, interim access and trail 

improvements and ending with the build‐out of the plan’s active recreational program. Grouped 

line item expenses represent separate phases, and appear in a recommended order of 

construction.  It should be noted that the phases presented here generally build upon one 

another and cannot necessarily be constructed out of sequence.   

The phasing represented here, however, is not the only option that exists. The fact that a phase 

appears in this section of the plan does not mean that it must be constructed as presented, only 



 

 

30Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

that this is one way it might be constructed.  Ultimately, the decision rests with the Town 

regarding which phases and which elements of phases are incorporated into the site.   

Unless otherwise noted, these costs represent the costs of the components furnished and 

installed.  Costs for any potential acquisition of easements or property rights are not included.  

Unknown factors related to State Agency permits and associated requirements could influence 

the costs as presented below.  

Some portions of the work, as noted on the cost estimate tables, below, are noted to be 

completed by the Brunswick Parks and Recreation Department.  Where this applies, the 

Brunswick Parks and Recreation Department would be acting as a General Contractor.   

All costs below are in February 2015 dollars, have not been marked up to reflect future inflation, 

and reflect the Brunswick Parks and Recreation Department’s typical construction methods.   

 

Phase  I 

This phase, envisioned as something that could be accomplished immediately, 

includes the construction of a temporary turn around and temporary parking spaces, 

the replacement of the existing gate, and the installation of identification and park 

rules signage.  The work would be managed by the Brunswick Parks and Recreation 

Department.  



 

 

31Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

 

Phase  II 

This phase, envisioned for the short term, includes the construction of a short section 

(250 LF) of new walking trail to replace a section of existing trail that runs off‐

property, and contains an allowance for other small improvements to the existing 

trails that may be needed.  Interpretive signage, benches, wayfinding signage, and a  

kiosk are also included with this phase, as well as a gravel ADA loop trail.  A Phase II 

Archaeological survey for the entire 66 Acres is included with the costs in this phase.  

The survey would be conducted prior to work commencing that involves any 

previously undisturbed areas, unless MHPC determines otherwise.  The cost included 

for the Phase II archaeological survey assumes that local students or volunteers would 

be overseen by a licensed archaeologist.  Based on the outcome of the Phase II 

archaeological survey, geotextile may be needed under some or all new trails 

conducted under this phase. The cost for any necessary geotextile fabric is not 

included in the estimate below, but would be approximately $3/SY. The work would 

be managed by the Brunswick Parks and Recreation Department.  

 

Phase I 

Interim Entrance and Driveway Improvements ‐ Provisional Turnaround, Provisionsal Parking, and Gate Improvements  

Includes 4 Parallel Parking Spaces Near Gate*

Work to be Managed by Parks and Recreation Department

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price Cost

1 Clearing/Grubbing/Disposal 1 LS 1,500.00$          1,500.00$           

2 Common Excavation/Grading 1 LS 3,000.00$          3,000.00$           

3 Aggregate Sub‐Base ‐ 12"  55 CY 20.00$               1,100.00$           

4 Aggregate Leveling and Surface Course ‐ 6" 20 CY 25.00$               500.00$              

5 Single Leaf Pipe Gate 26' Wide  with Additional 40' Fencing to Control Access 1 LS 5,000.00$          5,000.00$           

6 4" Depth Loam and Seed Disturbed Areas 225 SY 5.00$                  1,125.00$           

7 Boulders 10 EA 250.00$             2,500.00$           

8 Park Identification Sign 1 LS 1,000.00$          1,000.00$           

9 Park Rules Signage 1 LS 1,000.00$          1,000.00$           

10 Signage ‐ Handicap Parking Sign  1 EA 300.00$             300.00$              

11 Erosion and Sedimentation Control 1 LS 1,000.00$          1,000.00$           

Subtotal: 18,025.00$        

Construction Contingency (10%): 1,802.50$          

Total Construction Cost this Phase by Recreation Department 19,827.50$        

Phase II

Walking Trails and Interpretive Signage*

Work to be Managed by Parks and Recreation Department

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price Cost

1 Clearing/Grubbing/Disposal 1 LS 2,000.00$          2,000.00$           

2 Common Excavation/Fill/Grading 1 LS 1,000.00$          1,000.00$           

3 4' Wide New Trail (4" Stone Dust, 8" Agg. Base, Loam and Seed) 350 LF 15.00$               5,250.00$           

4 4' ADA Loop Trail (Similar to Item 3, Above) ‐ Connects into Access Road  600 LF 30.00$               18,000.00$        

5 4" Depth Loam and Seed Additional Disturbed Areas 1000 SY 5.00$                  5,000.00$           

6 Wooden Kiosk 2 EA 2,500.00$          5,000.00$           

7 Wayfinding Signage 1 LS 1,000.00$          1,000.00$           

8 Interpretive Signage Panels and Bases 2 EA 1,500.00$          3,000.00$           

9 Benches with Concrete Base 4 EA 1,000.00$          4,000.00$           

10 Trash Receptacles with Concrete Base 4 EA 250.00$             1,000.00$           

11 Bicycle Racks  3 LOOPS 250.00$             750.00$              

12 Erosion and Sedimentation Control 1 LS 1,000.00$          1,000.00$           

Subtotal: 47,000.00$        

Construction Contingency (10%): 4,700.00$          

Total Construction Cost This Phase 51,700.00$        

Phase II Archaeology:  Entire Site**               30,000.00$        

Total Construction Cost this Phase by Recreation Department 81,700.00$        

**May not be required.  Depends upon MHPC determination. 



 

 

32Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

Phase III 

Phase III includes the construction of a shared use path for bicyclists and pedestrians 

on the 64 Acre portion of the property, connecting to the Route 1 right‐of‐way.   Costs 

associated with any needed construction or easements on adjacent CMP property are 

not included. Improvements for bicyclists and pedestrians along the access road are 

included in other phases.  This phase could be constructed at any time in the 

sequence. Based on the outcome of the Phase II archaeological survey, geotextile may 

be needed under some or all of the shared use path conducted under this phase. The 

cost for any necessary geotextile fabric is not included in the estimate below, but 

would be approximately $3/SY.  The work would be awarded by competitive bid to an 

independent contractor.  

 

Phase  IV 

Phase IV includes a widening and reconstruction of the access road and construction 

of a loop drop‐off within the 64 Acre portion of the property, construction of a gravel 

walkway along the length of the access road with a 3’ grass shoulder for separation, 

and the construction of 20 parking spaces, to be expanded upon in the next phase.  

This phase could be constructed instead of Phase I, above, and can be completed 

independently of Phases II and IV, but must be completed before or concurrently with 

Phases V and VI. Based on the outcome of the Phase II archaeological survey, 

geotextile may be needed under some of the work conducted under this phase. The 

cost for any necessary geotextile fabric is not included in the estimate below, but 

would be approximately $3/SY. The work would be managed by the Brunswick Parks 

and Recreation Department. 

Phase III

10' Shared Use Path Connection from Driveway Right‐of‐Way to Route 1 Right‐of‐Way* 

Construction by Bid/Award to Independent Contractor

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price Cost

1 Clearing/Grubbing/Disposal 1 LS 5,000.00$          5,000.00$           

2 Common Excavation/Grading 1 LS 7,500.00$          7,500.00$           

3 Imported Fill For Path  600 CY 10.00$               6,000.00$           

4 Aggregate Base ‐ 12"  1300 CY 30.00$               39,000.00$        

5 Pavement (Machine Mix, 3") 2500 SY 30.00$               75,000.00$        

6 4" Depth Loam and Seed Disturbed Areas 2500 SY 6.00$                  15,000.00$        

7 Bike Path Warning and Regulatory Signage, Pavement Markings and Misc. Safety  1 LS 4,000.00$          4,000.00$           

8 Erosion and Sedimentation Control 1 LS 1,000.00$          1,000.00$           

9 Mobilization 1 LS 13,000.00$        13,000.00$        

Subtotal: 165,500.00$     

Construction Contingency (10%): 16,550.00$        

Total Construction Cost this Phase by Contractor 182,050.00$     



 

 

33Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

 

Phase  V 

Phase V includes construction of the first of two multi‐use athletic fields without 

irrigation, 60 additional parking spaces, and a stormwater system including 

stormwater treatment measures.  Based on the outcome of the Phase II 

archaeological survey, geotextile may be needed under some or all of the work 

conducted under this phase. The cost for any necessary geotextile fabric is not 

included in the estimate below, but would be approximately $3/SY. The work would 

be awarded by competitive bid to an independent contractor. 

 

Phase  VI  –  Second  Multi‐Use  Field 

Phase VI includes two parts that can be completed independently.  

The first part includes construction of the second of two multi‐use athletic fields 

without irrigation, 60 additional parking spaces, and a stormwater system including 

stormwater treatment measures.  The work would be awarded by competitive bid to 

an independent contractor. 

Phase IV 

Entrance and Driveway Improvements ‐24' Wide Driveway with 3' Separation and 5' Gravel Path 

Includes Drop‐Off Loop and 20 Parking Spaces*

Work to be Managed by Parks and Recreation Department

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price Cost

1 Clearing/Grubbing/Disposal 1 LS 5,000.00$          5,000.00$           

2 Common Excavation/Grading 1200 CY 15.00$               18,000.00$        

3 Aggregate Sub‐Base for Parking and Driveway ‐ 12"  2200 CY 20.00$               44,000.00$        

4 Aggregate Base for Parking and Driveway ‐ 6" 800 CY 25.00$               20,000.00$        

5 Pavement 4' Additional Roadway Width & Walkway (Hand Method, 2.5") 2000 SY 30.00$               60,000.00$        

6 Pavement Binder New Loop/parking (2.5" Machine Mix) 3000 SY 20.00$               60,000.00$        

7 Pavement Surface Course (1.5" Machine Mix) 7200 SY 15.00$               108,000.00$      

8 4" Loam and Seed Disturbed Areas and 3' Separation Area 2700 SY 5.00$                  13,500.00$        

9 Park Rules Signage 1 LS 1,000.00$          1,000.00$           

10 Signage ‐ Handicap Parking Sign  2 EA 250.00$             500.00$              

11 Erosion and Sedimentation Control 1 LS 3,000.00$          3,000.00$           

Subtotal: 333,000.00$     

Construction Contingency (10%): 33,300.00$        

Total Construction Cost this Phase by Recreation Department 366,300.00$     

Phase V

First Multi‐Use Field Construction and 60 Parking Spaces

Construction by Bid/Award to Independent Contractor

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price Cost

1 Clearing/Grubbing/Disposal 1 LS 5,000.00$          5,000.00$           

2 Common Excavation/Grading 1 LS 5,000.00$          5,000.00$           

3 Imported Fill for Fields 5,000 CY 10.00$               50,000.00$        

4 Establish Turf Athletic Fields (6" loam, over seeding, fertilizer, mulch) 130 UNIT 1,000.00$          130,000.00$      

5 4" Loam and Seed Disturbed Areas  5,000 SY 6.00$                  30,000.00$        

6 Stormwater System/Treatment 1 LS 15,000.00$        15,000.00$        

7 Curb Stops (parking) 950 LF 7.00$                  6,650.00$           

8 Aggregate Sub‐base for parking ‐ 12" 1000 CY 30.00$               30,000.00$        

9 Aggregate Base for Additional Parking  ‐ 6"  500 CY 35.00$               17,500.00$        

10 Pavement for Additional Parking (Machine Mix, 3") 2800 SY 30.00$               84,000.00$        

11 Erosion and Sedimentation Control 1 LS 7,500.00$          7,500.00$           

12 Mobilization 1 LS 25,000.00$        25,000.00$        

Subtotal: 405,650.00$     

Construction Contingency (10%): 40,565.00$        

Total Construction Cost this Phase by Contractor 446,215.00$     



 

 

34Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

The second part includes the installation of utility services (water, sewer, and 

electricity), irrigation for the multi‐use athletic fields, a playground for 50‐60 children, 

wayfinding signage, site furnishings, and a pre‐fabricated 

concession/restroom/storage building. It also includes additional optional trails within 

the 15 acre development envelope and additional walkways around the parking lot.  

The work would be awarded by competitive bid to an independent contractor. The 

work would be managed by the Brunswick Parks and Recreation Department. 

Based on the outcome of the Phase II archaeological survey, geotextile may be needed under 

some or all of the work conducted under this phase. The cost for any necessary geotextile fabric 

is not included in the estimate below, but would be approximately $3/SY. 

It is important to note that the athletic fields do not have to be constructed at the 

same time, and that site amenities, play equipment, and the bathrooms and 

concession building are elements that can be phased in over time, as construction 

funding allows.  

 

 

 

 

Phase VI

Second Multi‐Use Field Construction and 60 Parking Spaces

Construction by Bid/Award to Independent Contractor

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price Cost

1 Clearing/Grubbing/Disposal 1 LS 5,000.00$          5,000.00$           

2 Common Excavation/Grading 1 LS 5,000.00$          5,000.00$           

3 Imported Fill for Fields 5,000 CY 10.00$               50,000.00$        

4 Establish Turf Athletic Fields (6" loam, over seeding, fertilizer, mulch) 130 UNIT 1,000.00$          130,000.00$      

5 4" Loam and Seed Disturbed Areas  2,000 SY 6.00$                  12,000.00$        

6 Stormwater System/Treatment 1 LS 15,000.00$        15,000.00$        

7 Curb Stops (Parking) 770 LF 7.00$                  5,390.00$           

8 Aggregate Base for Parking  ‐ 6"  550 CY 35.00$               19,250.00$        

9 Aggregate Sub‐base for Parking ‐ 12" 1100 CY 30.00$               33,000.00$        

10 Pavement for Additional Parking (Machine Mix, 3") 3200 SY 30.00$               96,000.00$        

11 Erosion and Sedimentation Control 1 LS 7,500.00$          7,500.00$           

12 Mobilization 1 LS 25,000.00$        25,000.00$        

Subtotal: 403,140.00$     

Construction Contingency (10%): 40,314.00$        

Total Construction Cost this Phase by Contractor 443,454.00$     

Phase VI

Play Ground, Restroom/Storage/Concession Building

Work to be Managed by Parks and Recreation Department

Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price Cost

1 Electrical Service for Restroom/Storage/Concession 1 LS 30,000.00$        30,000.00$        

2 Sewer/Septic Field for Restroom/Storage/Concession 1 LS 10,000.00$        10,000.00$        

3 Well for Restroom/Storage/Concession and Irrigation System 1 LS 15,000.00$        15,000.00$        

4 Field Irrigation System 1 LS 40,000.00$        40,000.00$        

5 Building with 2 Single User Restrooms, Concession Area, and Storage Room 1 LS 30,000.00$        30,000.00$        

6 Play Ground for 50‐60 Children 1 LS 30,000.00$        30,000.00$        

7 4" Loam and Seed Disturbed Areas  3000 SY 7.00$                  21,000.00$        

8 Wayfinding Signage 1 LS 1,500.00$          1,500.00$           

9 Benches with Concrete Base 4 EA 1,000.00$          4,000.00$           

10 Trash Receptacles with Concrete Base 4 EA 250.00$             1,000.00$           

11 Landscape Plantings  1 LS 5,000.00$          5,000.00$           

12 Bicycle Racks  3 LOOPS 500.00$             1,500.00$           

13 Potential 4' Wide New Trail (4" Stone Dust, 8" Agg. Base, Fill, Loam and Seed) 2000 LF 15.00$               30,000.00$        

Total Construction Cost this Phase by Recreation Department 219,000.00$     



 

 

35Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

 

Grand  Total  

The grand total includes design, permitting and construction of all five phases outlined above.  

There are costs associated with future permit and regulatory requirements as well as potential 

easements and other property rights that have not been included. 

 

Operational and Management Costs (Including Stewardship)  

Operating and Maintaining (O&M) the site will have long‐term recurring costs.  O&M costs will 

be dependent upon the level of facility development at any given time.  Annual O&M costs 

could range from about $2,000 to $35,000 per year, depending upon the level of site 

development that has occurred.  The breakout by phase included below provides more detail 

regarding annual O&M costs by phase, as estimated by Town staff.  

 

Potential Funding Sources   

Most of the funding programs traditionally used to fund trails and recreational facilities 

originate from federal sources and are administered by the State.  These funding sources are 

subject to fluctuation in the level of funding provided from year to year.  The information 

provided here on various programs is the most current available, but program details such as 

availability, deadlines, and requirements may change, and the Town should contact the 

appropriate agencies to ensure they have the best information about a funding program. 

It is important to keep in mind that most grant sources still require local funding to provide 

match funds.  Many grants allow for a certain amount of in‐kind match such as the use of 

municipal labor or resources or other donated services from within the community.  As many of 

the grants used by Maine communities to develop trails and recreational facilities have become 

Grand Total

Design, Permitting and Construction*

Total Construction Cost All Phases 1,758,546.50$  

140,683.72$     

Site Location of Development Permit $10,000

Endangered Species Survey $10,000

Stormwater Permit $5,000

42,467.75$        

Total Estimated Project Cost:   1,966,697.97$  

*Does not include potential costs associated with obtaining easements or other property rights

Cost savings for alternate field layout is around $40,000 to $50,000.

Cost of geotextile fabric if required is approximately $210,000

Design/Engineering (8%):

Construction Oversight Phase V & VI (5%):

Capt. William A. Fitzgerald Recreation and Conservation Area

Operation and Management Costs

Phase # Description of Phase

1 Construct interim entrance and driveway improvements 2,014.00$           

2 Construct walking loop and install interpretive signage 1,311.00$           

3 Construct 10' shared use path connection 1,272.00$           

4 Construct entrance and driveway improvements, including 20 parking spaces 9,370.00$           

5 Construct first multi‐use field and 60 parking spaces 8,052.00$           

6 13,280.00$        Construct second multi‐use field and 60 parking spaces; install playground, 

restroom/concession/storage building

Annual Maintenance Cost Est.



 

 

36Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

less available and more competitive, many communities have looked to dedicating funds such as 

from impact fees or other development fees to secure funding.  

Also, while local bonds can be less favorable politically, they have been discussed in recent years 

as a practical and financially feasible opportunity to fund recreation and conservation efforts. 

MaineDOT’s  Transportation  Alternatives  Funding 

MaineDOT’s Transportation Alternatives Program (TA) was formerly known as the TE and Safe 

Routes to School programs.  The Department accepts phone calls and letters of intent for TA 

projects at any time.  To be eligible for inclusion in the next MaineDOT 3 Year Work Plan 

announced each January, MaineDOT must be notified officially that the local match and overall 

project has been approved by June 30th of any given year. 

This program principally supports locally‐initiated projects that improve the community 

transportation environment, economic vibrancy, safety for pedestrians and bicyclists, 

downtown revitalization initiatives and environmental mitigation. There is a required 20% local 

share under the TA program.  

TA funding opportunities are available to help expand transportation choices and enhance the 

transportation experience through eligible activities related to surface transportation, including 

pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure and safety programs.  Successful projects must 

demonstrate that they will provide improved access or improve safety conditions.  Although the 

walking trails that are envisioned as part of this project would not qualify, the shared use path 

seems like a possible candidate for these funds.   

There are specific design and construction standards required by MaineDOT that should be 

taken into consideration.  For example, MaineDOT requires certain construction details and 

dimensional standards.   Also, MaineDOT funding does not cover amenities such as lighting, 

signage, benches, etc. 

For more information:  http://www.maine.gov/mdot/pga/tap.htm 

MaineDOC  Funding 

Funding through the Maine Department of Conservation offers another potential pool of funds 

for trail and recreation facility development, including the Recreational Trails Program and Land 

& Water Conservation Fund. 

 Maine Trails Fund (Recreational Trails Program) 

This program funds trail development, implementation and maintenance, with 30% 

funding towards non‐motorized trails, 30% towards motorized trails, and 40% towards 

“projects that facilitate diverse trail use”.  Projects can include: 

o Maintenance and restoration of existing recreational trails. 

o Development and rehabilitation of trail side and trailhead facilities and trail 

linkages for recreational trails.  



 

 

37Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

o Construction of new recreational trails. 

o Acquisition of easements or fee simple title to property for recreational trails or 

recreational trail corridors. 

o Operation of educational programs to promote safety and environmental 

protection as those objectives relate to use of recreational trails 

The program administered through the Bureau of Parks and Lands.  Funding is dependent on 

the reauthorization of the Recreational Trails Program in the Maine Department of 

Transportation budget.  

For more information: 

http://www.maine.gov/dacf/parks/grants/recreational_trails_program.shtml 

 Land & Water Conservation Funding (LWCF) 

This program funds the development of public outdoor recreation facilities.  Projects 

must be in accordance with the current State Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan 

(SCORP). 

Projects should have significant impact to a community, region or the State of Maine in 

general, including but not limited to: 

o Acquisition of property to prevent loss of an existing public outdoor recreation 

facility; 

o Acquisition of land to protect critical natural areas and/or wetlands; 

o Development of public outdoor recreation facilities to meet established, 

documented needs in a community or region; 

o Development of public outdoor recreation facilities that serve a broad range of 

users including special needs populations; 

o Renovation of existing public outdoor recreation facilities that serve an 

established, documented need. 

The program funding is administered at the federal level by the National Park Service 

and at the State level by the Bureau of Parks and Lands.  A 50% cash or in‐kind match is 

required, with up to $200,000 for eligible acquisition and/or development projects.  A 

pre‐application inspection/meeting must be scheduled with BPL staff. 

For more information: 

http://www.maine.gov/dacf/parks/grants/land_water_conservation_fund.html 

Other  Potential  Funding  Sources 

Other funding sources worth investigating for potential applicability to portions of this project 

are USDA RD Community Facilities Grants and CDBG funds for Public Facilities and 

Infrastructure.  

   



 

 

38Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

Public Access, Uses and Management Issues 

Sales  or  Promotion 

Selling or promoting the sale of items is prohibited within the park, except with respect to the 

Park’s authorized concession. 

Motorized  Recreation 

Motorized recreation vehicles are ONLY allowed on the property for management, emergency 

or maintenance activities.  Access is not allowed for ATV’s, snowmobiles and golf carts.  

Bicycles  

Shared use paths will accommodate bicycles.  There will also be designated footpaths that will 

not allow bicycles.  No designated single‐track mountain bike paths are planned. Bicycles may 

only be used in areas designated specifically for that purpose.  Bicycles must use designated 

bicycle parking areas or bicycle racks.  

Dogs   

Dogs will be allowed on leash only as per town and state laws and ordinances.  Dogs may be 

restricted from areas designated sensitive ecological habitat.  Dog owners must pick up after 

their dogs in the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area and on 

the Shared Use Path.   

Hunting and Trapping 

Hunting and trapping will be allowed, with restrictions, below, until such time as a shared use 

path, athletic field, natural play area, play structure, or concession stand is constructed on the 

property.  All hunting and trapping shall take place in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Maine, the laws and rules of the Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife, and local 

ordinances.   

I.  In the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area, hunting will be 

allowed with restriction to shotgun, black powder and bow hunting only.  Trapping will be 

allowed only with a permit from the Town for the purpose of wildlife management.   

II.  The possession and / or use of firearms or weapons is prohibited, except in accordance with 

State hunting laws and in designated areas.   

III.  In accordance with State law, no discharge of firearms within 300 feet of a residence.     

IV.  Work areas and areas with significant public use may be temporarily posted as closed to 

hunting by park management in the interest of public safety. 

V.  Baiting of wildlife for the purpose of hunting is prohibited. 



 

 

39Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

VI.  No target practice or firing ranges allowed on the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, 

Recreation and Conservation Area property.   

Horses  

No horses will be allowed on the property. 

Fires 

Other than authorized controlled burns for ecological management purposes, no fires are 

allowed. 

Camping 

Camping is prohibited.  

Campfires are not allowed due to the danger they pose to the natural forest habitat. Any fire 

rings found will be dismantled and “Kindle No Fires” signs will be posted. “No Camping” signs 

will be posted if illegal camping becomes a problem.  

Actions:   Post “No Camping/No Campfires” sign at proposed parking lot 

Hours of Operation 

Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area will most likely be open 

dawn to dusk.  Parking will be allowed only when the park is open.  The Recreation Commission 

has the authority to change the hours of operation or open the park during special hours for 

sanctioned events. Use of the shared use path will be permitted outside of park hours. 

Action: Post signs clearly stating park rules and hours of operation at all public access sites 

Signage 

Ensuring proper signage for directing and instructing users, displaying park rules and to clearly 

mark trail locations is critical to management objectives. 

Interpretive signage educating visitors about the natural community and the use of fire in 

ecological management, as well as the site’s cultural history, is an important part of the park’s 

purpose.  

Action: Develop Signage Plan that clearly outlines locations and content of signs  

Trash 

Trash will be removed by the Town.  Trash receptacles will be provided at parking areas, at the 

concession building and restrooms, and in other areas where they may be needed.  

Athletic Field Use 

Athletic field use will be scheduled by the Parks and Recreation Department.  



 

 

40Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

Trails 

Walking trails will be available for birdwatching, nature photography, dog walking, and 

enjoyment of the natural community as well as winter uses such as cross‐country skiing and 

snowshoeing. Park users must remain on designated trails during the months of May, June and 

July, when birds are nesting.  

Blueberry Harvesting 

Blueberry harvesting by hand only will be allowed at Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN 

Recreation and Conservation Area.  

Invasive Plants and Animals 

Some plant and animal invasions may not be particularly disruptive.  However, others can be 

very serious, threatening the biological integrity of Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN Recreation 

and Conservation Area.  Plants such as Japanese knotweed, burning bush and non‐native 

honeysuckles have been documented to out‐compete native vegetation in southern Maine and 

should therefore be considered a serious threat if located on Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN 

Recreation and Conservation Area. The Conservation Commission will conduct routine 

monitoring to recommend removal of infestations of new invasive plants to the Parks and 

Recreation Department before they become a major concern. In general, best management 

practices will be used in order to minimize pesticide or herbicide applications, and applications 

will be made only by certified pesticide applicators and in accordance with the Town’s Land Care 

Ordinance.   

Structures 

Unauthorized temporary or permanent structures are not permitted in Captain William A. 

Fitzgerald USN Recreation and Conservation Area.  Memorials, unauthorized signs and posters, 

tree houses, forts and deer stands are examples of structures not permitted. If warranted, 

portable toilets may be placed in the parking area.  A concession/restroom facility is planned for 

the park.  Structures will also be necessary for trail needs and for communicating park rules, etc.  

These structures could include kiosks, bridges, benches, picnic tables, signs, etc.  Structures 

should only be constructed in accordance with the approved master plan for the property. 

Monitoring of the Natural Community 

Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and Conservation Area offers an opportunity for 

“citizen science”.   The Conservation Commission will organize any baseline inventories to 

understand the natural resource values of property and will maintain data collected in a format 

readily viewable by interested staff and volunteers. 

   



 

 

41Public Benefit Conveyances RECREATION, TRAILS & OPEN SPACE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

March 9, 2015 

 

Monitoring and Evaluation 

Annual inspections and reporting requirements  

Properties will be inspected by the Conservation Commission annually for indication of trespass, 

natural damage, safety hazards, environmental impacts, boundary infringements, and other 

issues.  A written record of the inspection will be kept on file.  If management problems are 

identified, the Department of Parks and Recreation will develop a plan for addressing these 

problems in a timely manner. 

 

Boundary Marking 

Nearly all of the boundaries on the Captain William A. Fitzgerald USN, Recreation and 

Conservation Area have been posted by the Navy. The boundary of the property should be 

monitored yearly by the Conservation Commission to check for violations and to make sure the 

boundary signs are intact. The boundary should be brushed and re‐signed every five years as 

necessary.  

Actions:  

 Walk boundary annually to check boundary signs and look for boundary incursions 

 Brush and re‐sign the boundary every five years as needed 

 

Updating and Amending the Recreation and Open Space 

Management Plan 

The Management Plan is a living document that will need to be amended to ensure proper 

management of the lands over the long‐term.  The Department of Parks and Recreation with 

input from the Conservation and Recreation Commissions will be responsible for making 

recommendations for amendments to the plan.  Amendments to the plan should be vetted 

through a public process with final approval on amendments to be made by the Town Council. 

 



 
 

 
ITEM 27 
NO BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



 
 

 
ITEM 28 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 





 

Town of Brunswick, Maine 
INCORPORATED 1739 

ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT 

28 FEDERAL STREET 

BRUNSWICK, MAINE 04011-1583 

 
 

 

TELEPHONE      207-721-0292 

FAX                      207-725-6663 

 

 
 

TO:  Brunswick Town Council Members 

 

FROM:  Linda Smith, Business Development Manager 

 

SUBJECT: The Gelato Fiasco Request to submit a Letter of Intent (LOI) for a Community 

Development Block Grant application 

 

DATE:  February 25, 2015 

 

The Gelato Fiasco is requesting a Letter of Intent (LOI) from the Town of Brunswick to submit to the 

Department of Economic and Community Development’s Office of Community Development for $350,000 

from the Community Development Block Grant Economic Development program to provide funding to 

support their production expansion in Brunswick 

As the Letter of Intent indicates, Joshua Davis and Bruno Tropeano opened Gelato Fiasco in Brunswick, 

Maine on August 7, 2007. Their commitment to quality, fun and community created a successful business 

model. Starting with six employees and one retail store with production “in back”, today the business 

maintains its Flagship store in Brunswick, its Portland store, a production facility, and distribution to 47 

states in the U.S. They employ 36 FTE employees in the retail and production lines. Recently, Gelato 

Fiasco signed a contract with the Kroger Company to distribute their gelato through its 1,700 stores 

nation-wide. 

This moves the company to a new phase of production. Currently operating out of a 6,000 square foot 

facility on Industry Road, they are negotiating for 20,000 square feet of production space with new kitchen 

facilities at another location in Brunswick. They also expect in increase their workforce by another 15 

employees.  

Josh and Bruno are exemplary entrepreneurs, as witnessed by the numerous awards they’ve garnered, 

including the Small Business Administration’s Young Entrepreneur of 2014. The company has grown 

exponentially since its founding in 2007, with last quarter’s revenues equaling all of last year’s revenues. 

That growth literally comes at a great cost as they face this major expansion. They are contract rich and 

cash flow poor, facing a potentially disproportionately large debt service to grow the business. Therefore, 

they are seeking a $350,000 CDBG as a part of a $1,410,000 expansion effort. The expansion will 

support leasehold improvements and equipment purchases. The 15 new employee positions will range 

from sales and marketing to production.      

The draft Letter of Intent is in your packet for your reference. Josh Davis will be available at the March 2, 

2015 Town Council meeting to answer any questions. 

 

Cc: John Eldridge, Town Manager, Town of Brunswick 

       Josh Davis & Bruno Tropeano, The Gelato Fiasco        



 

2015 Economic Development Grant Program 
Letter of Intent 
 

1 

State of Maine 
Community Development Block Grant Program 

2015 Economic Development Program 
Letter of Intent to Apply 

Due the first Friday of each month by 4:00 p.m.* 

Letters of Intent may be submitted via email to: ocd.loi@maine.gov 
Please enter “EDP LOI” in the subject line. 

 
2015 CDBG Program Funds are not expected to be available before July 1, 2015. 

 
All communities wishing to apply for assistance under the 2015 Economic Development Program must use this Letter of 
Intent to document compliance with requirements established by Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act 
of 1974, as amended and the State of Maine CDBG program. Applicants who submit a completed Letter of Intent deemed 
to be fully compliant will be notified by OCD that they are eligible to submit a final application.  Eligibility to submit a final 
application does not imply final project approval or funding. 

 
EDP PROJECT PARTICIPANTS 
 
Legal Applicant (Community): 
 

Applicant: Town of Brunswick Phone: 207-725-6659 

Address: 85 Union Street,  Fax: 207-725-6663 

City, ZIP+4: Brunswick, ME 04011 E-Mail: lsmith@brunswickme.org 

Contact: Linda E. Smith / 207-721-0292 / lsmith@brunswickme.org 

DUNS #: Applicant DUNS (Dunn & Bradstreet) #: 077466274 

(visit http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform if applicant needs to obtain a number) 

OCD Development Program Manager (Name and Date of Consultation Required): Andrea Smith / 
phone call / Thursday February 19, 2015 

 
Business to be assisted:  
 

Business  The Gelato Fiasco Phone: 207-607-4002 or 
207-649-1594 

Address: 2 Industry Road Fax: 866-811-9512 

City, ZIP: Brunswick, ME 04011 E-Mail: josh@gelatofiasco.com 

Contact: Joshua Davis Title Treasurer 

DUNS #: Applicant Business DUNS (Dunn & Bradstreet) #: 806346149 
(visit http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform if business needs to obtain a number) 

 
If applicable, is business to be assisted      Retail                              Start-up    

 
 

*If the first Friday of the month falls on a holiday the EDP Letter of Intent will be due by 4:00pm on the next 
business day. 

mailto:ocd.loi@maine.gov
http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform
http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform


 

2015 Economic Development Grant Program 
Letter of Intent 
 

2 

 
EDP ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY CATEGORIES  
 

 
 
 
 

Grants to Municipalities:  
for acquisition, relocation,  demolition, clearance, construction,  
reconstruction, installation and rehabilitation associated with  public  
infrastructure projects such as water and sewer improvements,  
flood and drainage improvements, publicly-owned commercial                             $1,000,000 
and industrial buildings, parking, streets, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, etc.    
All public infrastructure must be owned by the municipality or public  
or private utility and be in support of an identified business.   

 Grants to Municipalities for Direct Business Support:   
for capital and non-capital equipment, land and site improvements,  
rehabilitation or construction of commercial or industrial buildings,                      $1,000,000   
job training, working capital and capital equipment and be in  
support of an identified business.  Acquisition is not an allowable  
activity under this group. 

 

Applicants may apply in only one specific grant activity group. 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM FUNDS CANNOT BE USED TO REFINANCE EXISTING DEBT 

PROJECT INFORMATION 
 
Using the space provided please provide a clear, concise description of the proposed development 
project.  Be sure to clearly explain how EDP funds will be utilized, the financing gap that exists in 
order to do the project and the timeline in which the CDBG-EDP funds will be expended and 
information relative to jobs being created and/or retained.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Joshua Davis and Bruno Tropeano opened Gelato Fiasco in Brunswick, Maine on August 7, 2007. Their 
commitment to quality, fun and community created a successful business model; starting with six 
employees and one retail store with production “in back”, today the business maintains its Flagship store in 
Brunswick, its Portland store, a production facility, and distribution to 47 states in the U.S. They employ 36 
FTE employees in the retail and production lines. Recently, Gelato Fiasco signed a contract with the Kroger 
Company to distribute their gelato through its 1,700 stores nation-wide.  
 
This moves the company to a new phase of production. Currently, they operate out of a 6,000 square foot 
facility on Industry Road in Brunswick. They anticipate needing 20,000 square feet of production space with 
new kitchen facilities by late summer 2015 in order to meet demand. They also expect in increase their 
workforce by another 15 employees. Their current location does not lend itself to this size expansion. They 
are currently working with a prospective landlord in Brunswick to expand in to new space by August 2015. 
Josh and Bruno are exemplary entrepreneurs, as witnessed by the numerous awards they’ve garnered, 
including the Small Business Administration’s Young Entrepreneur of 2014. The company has grown 
exponentially since its founding in 2007, with last quarter’s revenues equaling all of last year’s revenues. 
That growth literally comes at a great cost as they face this major expansion. They are contract rich and 
cash flow poor, facing a potentially disproportionately large debt service to grow the business. Therefore, 
they are seeking a $350,000 CDBG as a part of a $1,410,000 expansion effort. The expansion will support 
leasehold improvements and equipment purchases. The 15 new employee positions will range from sales 
and marketing to production (see job creation section below for details).      

 



 

2015 Economic Development Grant Program 
Letter of Intent 
 

3 

EDP DOLLARS PER JOB CREATED 
 

The maximum CDBG participation per job created with EDP funds is $30,000. 
 
JOB RETENTION INFORMATION (Fill in job information below) 

 

 
The applicant must also attach documentation to this Letter of Intent such as public announcement of 
lay-offs, public announcement of imminent closure, financial records) of impending job loss without 
CDBG Program assistance.  Completion of Job Retention Assurances and Job Retention 
Summary Documentation must be completed and submitted to the Office of Community 
Development before applicant will be invited to submit an EDP application.  Forms require 
completion and must be signed by both the municipal and business CEO.  Please pay close attention 
to the definition of permanent, full time and full time equivalent jobs.   
 
JOB CREATION INFORMATION (Fill in job information below) 

 
 

Occupation/Job Title # of 
Jobs 

Work 
 Location 

Hire  
Date 

Hourly  
Salary 

Hourly Salary 
with fringe 
benefits 

Officials & managers - 
Buyer 

1 Brunswick / new 
facility 

June 2015 $12.50 $15.00 

Technicians – Quality 
Control Lab Manager 

1 Brunswick / new 
facility 

June 2015 $13.00 $15.50 

Office & Clerical – 
Accounts Payable Clerk 

1 Brunswick / new 
facility 

June 2015 $13.00 $15.50 

Crafts Worker – Master 
Gelato Maker 

1 Brunswick / new 
facility 

May 2015 $15.00 $17.50 

Operatives – Gelato 
Maker 

8 Brunswick / new 
facility 

May 2015 $12.75 $14.75 

Laborer: Dish Washer 1 Brunswick / new 
facility 

May  2015 $10.00 $12.00 

Service Worker: Janitor 1 Brunswick / new 
facility 

May 2015 $11.00 $13.00 

Sales: Inside Sales Rep 1 Brunswick / new 
facility 

July 2015 $12.00 $14.00 

 
In determining CDBG National Objective compliance with job retention only Permanent jobs may be 
counted; temporary jobs may not.  Full time jobs require a worker to work at least 1750 hours per 
year.  Part time jobs require a worker to work at least 875 hours but less than 1750 hours per year.  
Part-time jobs must be converted to Full Time Equivalents (FTE).  An FTE is defined as two part time 
jobs.  Seasonal jobs may count only if the seasonal job lasts long enough and provides sufficient 
income to be considered the employee's principal occupation.  (Contact OCD prior to counting 
seasonal jobs towards LMI benefit.)  All permanent jobs created by the project must be counted, 
regardless of funding source(s).  Jobs indirectly created by the project (i.e., remote location, “trickle 
down” jobs) do not count. 

Number of Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) Jobs to be Retained: N/A 

Number of Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) Jobs to be Created: 15 



 

2015 Economic Development Grant Program 
Letter of Intent 
 

4 

 
G. COST ESTIMATES & PROJECT FUNDING 

 

Provide the estimated project cost, amount of CDBG funds to be requested and sources, amounts 
and dates secured for all anticipated cash matching funds.  
 

Applicants for Economic Development Program funds must certify and provide documentation, at 
time of application, that there is a 100% cash match of the total EDP award.  Matching funds must be 
directly related to the activities undertaken with EDP funding and must be firm commitments from 
non-CDBG funds and documented by binding commitment letters submitted with the final application.  
Prior commitments and in-kind contributions are not considered as match.  Project must demonstrate 
that there is a gap between sources and uses and that CDBG funds are needed to fill that gap. 
Communities receiving an EDP award may not receive any other EDP award for the same project or 
business during the same program year or for the same or project or business from a prior program 
year that has not met final closeout status.   
 

All construction estimates should be prepared by the Engineer/Architect.  Take into account the 
inflation rate in relation to the anticipated starting date of the project and applicable DAVIS/BACON 
wage rates as they apply to construction costs.  Please note projects with a total cost exceeding 
$3,000,000 are not eligible for EDP assistance. The minimum request for EDP assistance is 
$100,000*. 
 

Total Estimated Project Cost:   $1,410,000 CDBG Request:   $350,000 

 

Funding Source Amount Date Secured 

Traditional financing institution / 
Landlord (leasehold Improvements & 
equipment) 

$770,000 In process 

Owner Equity (equipment) $290,000 February 2015 

CDBG (equipment) $350,000 TBD 

   

   

   

   

   

TOTAL:   $ 1,410,000  

 
EDP PROJECTS IN SUPPORT OF RETAIL BUSINESSES  

 

EDP applications in support of a retail business must attach written documentation to 
this  Letter of Intent for each of the  following limited conditions: 
 
1. The retail business represents the provisions of new products and services previously 
unavailable in the community or is a tourism-related business; and 
 
2. The development or expansion of the retail business represents a net economic gain for the 
community and the region.  Applications supporting a retail business or businesses are required 
to certify that the development represents a new overall gain for the region economy and not a 
shift from existing established businesses to a new or expanded one; and 



 

2015 Economic Development Grant Program 
Letter of Intent 
 

5 

 
3. The retail business is located in either a downtown district meeting the definition of PL 776 
enacted by the 119th legislature; or a designated local growth area contained in an adopted and 
consistent comprehensive plan; and 
 
4. At least 50% of the jobs created by the retail business must be full time jobs. 

 
*Projects seeking less than $100,000 in CDBG EDP funds must request a waiver from the 
Office of Community Development (OCD) and have received approval of that wavier from OCD 
prior to the submission of the EDP Letter of Intent.  
 

Applicant & Business Certifications 
 
 

As an authorized official of the applicant community and/or business, I certify under the 
penalties of perjury that: 
 

1.  To the best of my knowledge and belief, all information contained in this Letter of Intent 
and all attached documentation is true and correct and current as of the date signed below; 
 

2.  This Letter of Intent complies with all applicable State and federal laws and regulations; 
 

3.   Both parties signing this Letter of Intent are cognizant of the requirement that 
should the intended Job Creation/Retention National Objective of the CDBG program 
not be met all CDBG funds must be repaid to the State of Maine CDBG program;  
DECD may elect to secure such requirement/repayment with assets of the Applicant 
Business for a term of up to five years should this project be approved for funding; 
 
4.  Approval of this Letter of Intent by OCD to submit a final application does not imply final 
project approval or funding. 
 

Signature of Chief Executive Officer: 
 
 

Printed or Typed Name: 
John S. Eldridge, III 

Name of Applicant Community: 
Town of Brunswick 
 

Date:  
March 6, 2015 

 

Signature of Chief Executive Officer: 
 
 

Printed or Typed Name: 
Joshua Davis 
 

Name of Applicant Business: 
The Gelato Fiasco 
 

Date:  
March 6, 2015 

 

  


	mr a on line only
	mr b yes
	mr b Calendar Mar-June 2015
	mr c yes
	MR c NoticeofPublicHearing_rhd
	mr d yes
	mr d Budget forum press release
	mr e yes
	Part 1.pdf
	ca a yes
	ca a March 2, 2015 min
	ca b yes
	ca b scan0007
	ca c yes
	ca c quit scan0008
	ca d yes
	ca d grant scan0009
	ca e yes
	ca e  Seat Belt Enforcement Campaign cover letter
	Director


	Part 3.pdf
	25 yes
	25 spec amusemetnscan0010
	26 yes
	26 A Capt Fitz TC Memo 031115_20150311114317
	26 b 12985A 12-10-14 Public Meeting Slides
	26 c Fitzgerald Management Plan-FOR COUNCIL3-9-15 (2)
	27 no
	28 yes
	28 Gelato Fiasco CDBG Memo to Town Council (2-25-2015)
	28 Gelato Fiasco EDP LOI (2-25-2015)


